

瑞港建設控股有限公司



Contents

- 2 Corporate Information
- 3 Chairman's Statement
- 4 Management Discussion and Analysis
- 12 Corporate Governance Report
- 19 Directors' Report
- 31 Directors and Senior Management
- 35 Independent Auditor's Report
- 43 Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
- 44 Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
- 45 Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
- 47 Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
- 48 Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
- 49 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
- 136 Five Year Financial Summary

Corporate Information

Executive Directors

Mr. Jiang Hongchang (Chairman)

Mr. Liu Yutao (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Du Jianzhi

Ms. Dong Fang (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Zhou Hongbao (Chief Operating Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis

Ms. Chen Yan

Mr. Liu Junchun

Audit Committee

Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis (Chairman)

Ms. Chen Yan

Mr. Liu Junchen

Nomination Committee

Mr. Jiang Hongchang (Chairman)

Mr. Liu Yutao

Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis

Ms. Chen Yan

Mr. Liu Junchun

Remuneration Committee

Ms. Chen Yan (Chairman)

Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis

Mr. Liu Junchun

Mr. Jiang Hongchang

Mr. Liu Yutao

Risk Management Committee

Mr. Jiang Hongchang (Chairman)

Mr. Liu Yutao

Mr. Du Jianzhi

Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis

Ms. Chen Yan

Mr. Liu Junchun

Strategy and Investment Committee

Mr. Jiang Hongchang (Chairman)

Mr. Liu Yutao

Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis

Ms. Chen Yan

Mr. Liu Junchun

Company Secretary

Mr. Lee Baldwin

Authorised Representative in Hong Kong

Mr. Wong Ting Pan Ronald

Registered Office

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive P. O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111 Cayman Islands

Head Office and Principal Place of Business in Hong Kong

Rooms 03-08, 24/F, Shui On Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar and Transfer Office

Tricor Investor Services Limited 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong

Principal Share Registrar and Transfer Office

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive P. O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

Auditor

BDO Limited Certified Public Accountants Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

Principal Bankers

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited Hang Seng Bank Limited

Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited

Stock code

6816

Company Website

www.prosperch.com

Chairman's Statement

On behalf of the board of directors ("Board") of Prosper Construction Holdings Limited ("Company"), I present the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the "Group") for the year ended 31 December 2024 ("FY2024" or "Year").

Uncertainties in the PRC property market continued and has impacted the launch of housing and general urban development projects. Hong Kong and Macau have seen relatively few large-scale marine projects unveiled in the past two years, leading to a dwindling and highly competitive market.

The Group's general construction business segment had been actively expanding its geographic coverage and has successfully secured different types of projects in the southern region beyond Shandong province, while simultaneously focused on photovoltaic-related projects (including construction of related industrial facilities, user-end related projects, curtainwall projects incorporating photovoltaic or energy-saving technologies, etc.). The Group also endeavours to enhance the coordination and synergy between its general construction and curtainwall businesses, aiming to reach into projects in the Middle East market. For the marine business, the Group will focus on developing overseas markets, mainly targeting business opportunities associated with projects by state-owned enterprises located abroad, covering the Middle East and the Belt and Road region in Southeast Asia. In addition, the Group has recently commenced a new trading business, which is expected to provide stable source of revenue and cash flow.

Overall, albeit still experiencing the trough cycle, the Group has formulated a comprehensive business development plan and has already secured business opportunities from new business regions and segments, and expects improvement in business performance in 2025.

JIANG Hongchang

Chairman and Executive Director

31 March 2025

Management Discussion and Analysis

Business Review

The Group's general construction business segment remained affected by the bleak condition of the real estate market. As the progress of key on-going projects have reached the final stage and the launch of potential projects has been delayed, the downward trend in the Group's operation cycle continued during the year ended 31 December 2024 ("FY2024") and revenue diminished further. To mitigate business risks associated with concentration in customer and region-specific economic conditions, the Group extended its business coverage to locations in the Guangdong and Hainan provinces during FY2024 and expects the broadened customer base and geographic coverage will heighten the Group's presence and competiveness.

Marine construction market in Hong Kong and Macao remained slow, with limited marine projects launched since year 2023, leading to immense competition and pressure on pricing. Furthermore, the Group has refrained from engaging in projects in Pakistan in view of the local political unrest and economic crisis since year 2022, while a sizeable project contracted by the Group in the Philippines were suspended shortly after commencement due to force majeure factors. All aforesaid factors led to further deterioration of the Group's marine construction business segment during the FY2024. The Group is in process of recovering compensation from our employer of the Philippines project to recuperate cost incurred in preparation of the project.

Instead of engaging in excessive price competition amidst the current uncertain market condition, the Group focused effort to recover receivable balances and achieved encouraging results in FY2024, reaching a favourable arbitration award for a completed project in Hong Kong and worked with claims consultants and lawyers to instigate debts recovery actions for a few other projects through appropriate legal means. The Group was also in continuous negotiation with project owners and/ or main contractors in the PRC to hasten repayment and explore other practicable settlement plan.

Revenue for the FY2024 comprised numerous projects none of which contributed 5% or more of the Group's revenue; amongst the top four revenue contributors for the FY2024, two were located in Qingdao and two were located outside of Qingdao.

Further details of the Group's performance by business segments and geographic locations are set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

Outlook and Prospects

The Group's general construction business segment had been actively expanding its geographic coverage and has successfully secured different types of projects in the southern region, including in Guangzhou, Fuzhou and Hainan, while simultaneously focused on photovoltaic-related projects (including construction of related industrial facilities, user-end related projects, curtainwall projects incorporating photovoltaic or energy-saving technologies, etc.). The Group also endeavours to enhance the coordination and synergy between its general construction and curtainwall businesses, aiming to reach into projects in the Middle East market. For the marine business, the Group will focus on developing overseas markets, mainly targeting business opportunities associated with projects by state-owned enterprises located abroad including composite development encompassing building construction, marine engineering and curtainwall components, in the Middle East and the Belt and Road region in Southeast Asia. Meanwhile, the Group has already despatched resources to explore potential project located in the United Arab Emirates in early 2025. Furthermore, the Group has recently commenced a new trading business, which is expected to provide stable source of revenue and cash flow.

The Group has the following key projects on hand as at 31 December 2024.

		Estimated remaining
Nature	Location	contract value
Public construction works	Qingdao	RMB439 million
Technology personnel residence	Qingdao	RMB431 million
Public infrastructure works	Qingdao	RMB429 million
Old complex redevelopment	Guangzhou	RMB265 million
Public construction works	Fuzhou	RMB222 million
Two residential projects	Linyi	RMB435 million
Curtainwall project	Mid-Asia country	RMB133 million
Pier repairs	Hong Kong	HK\$82 million

Financial Review

Revenue

The Group recorded revenue of HK\$1,631.3 million for the FY2024, representing a decrease of approximately 23.3% from the year ended 31 December 2023 ("FY2023") as a combined result of (i) a decrease in revenue from the Marine Business segment by approximately HK\$114.4 million or 65.7% and (ii) a decrease in revenue from the General Construction Business segment by approximately HK\$380.1 million or 19.5%.

The underlying reasons for the reduction in revenue in both the Marine Business and General Construction Business segments are discussed in the Business Review section of this report.

Cost of sales and gross profit

Cost of sales for the FY2024 decreased by 22.8% to HK\$1,501.2 million, which is generally consistent with the drop in revenue. Gross profit margin in FY2024 dropped to 8.0%, as compared to 8.5% for year 2023. Profit margin of the General Construction Business segment was relatively steady at 8.7% for FY2024 (FY2023: 9.0%), while on the other hand profit margin of the Marine Business segment decreased to a gross loss of 10.2% for FY2024 (FY2023: profit of 1.7%). The gross loss in the Marine Business segment was mainly due to unabsorbed fixed cost as a result of low business activities.

Provision for impairment losses on financial assets

The Group adopted a systematic approach in assessing the overall risk of default on its financial assets. Owing to uncertain economic conditions in the PRC and deteriorating credit outlooks in the real estate market, the Group adopted a relatively more conservative approach and higher default risk in assessment of impairment of its financial assets for the FY2024. Based on aforesaid assessment, a provision for impairment losses of HK\$61.3 million was recorded for the FY2024, which consisted of HK\$32.9 million for the General Construction Business segment and HK\$28.4 million for the Marine Business segment. The provision for impairment losses is estimation in nature and may be written back in future years upon realisation of underlying assets into cash and does not prejudice the Group's rights and position in respect of such assets.

Research and development expenses

Research and development expenses remained stable at HK\$21.1 million for the FY2024 and are related to the research and development of curtain wall engineering and construction technology.

Other administrative expenses

Other administrative expenses mainly comprised of staff costs, depreciation and amortisation and professional fees. Other administrative expenses decreased by HK\$44.1 million to HK\$129.6 million for the FY2024 mainly as a result of decrease in administrative staff cost by HK\$27.9 million, decrease in professional fees by HK\$3.4 million and decrease in leases expenses by HK\$6.4 million.

Income tax expenses

Income tax expenses for the FY2024 mainly comprised profits tax provision for operation in the PRC.

The Group's marine construction business in Macao is subject to Macao complementary income tax at a rate of 12%.

The Group's general construction contracting business in Qingdao is subject to PRC corporate income tax at a rate of 25% except for a subsidiary which qualify as High-New Technology Enterprises which are subject to a tax rate of 15%.

Operating loss, finance costs and profit before tax

Operating results for the FY2024 was hampered by the drop in revenue, further provision required for impairment of financial assets, but was partly alleviated by the reduction in other administrative expenses by HK\$44.1 million. Consequently, the Group's operating results for FY2024 dipped to a loss of HK\$70.4 million as compared to a loss of HK\$100.4 million for the FY2023.

Finance costs increased by approximately HK\$13.7 million for FY2024 as the Group relies on relatively high loan gearing to finance for its operation for the past two years.

Overall, the Group recorded a loss before tax of HK\$153.4 million for FY2024, as compared to a loss of HK\$168.1 million for FY2023.

Property, plant and equipment

As at 31 December 2024, the Group owned a total of 40 units of marine vessels, other construction machinery and equipment and an office building in Qingdao, PRC.

There was no material addition or disposal to property, plant and equipment during FY2024.

Trade, retention and notes receivables and amounts due from fellow subsidiaries

The Group's trade, retention and notes receivables increased by approximately HK\$75.6 million to HK\$1,264.3 million as at 31 December 2024, of which approximately HK\$188.1 million pertained to the Marine Business segment while approximately HK\$1,076.2 million pertained to the General Construction Business segment.

The Group's amounts due from fellow subsidiaries increased by approximately HK\$31.0 million to HK\$1,204.1 million as at 31 December 2024 and pertained to the General Construction Business segment which comprised of receivables for works on projects pending settlement by the fellow subsidiaries.

Contract assets/liabilities

Contract assets represent amounts due from customers for contract works performed which had not been billed as at the end of the year. The balance of contract assets as at 31 December 2024 for the Marine Business and General Construction Business was approximately HK\$177.7 million and HK\$1,532.1 million respectively.

Contract liabilities as at 31 December 2023 and 2024 represent amounts due to contract customers for payment received in excess of revenue recognisable by the Group according to the progress achieved.

Liquidity, Capital Structure and Gearing

The Group's net current asset balance and net debt position as at 31 December 2024 was approximately HK\$218.8 million (31 December 2023: HK\$210.5 million) and HK\$1,571.0 million (31 December 2023: HK\$1,553.1 million) respectively. The Group's gearing ratio (calculated by dividing total debts by total equity) as at 31 December 2024 increased to 616.6% as compared to the Previous Year (31 December 2023: 366.0%).

(a) Borrowings due for repayment after one year which contain repayment on demand clause were classified as current liabilities.

Based on the scheduled repayment terms set out in the loan agreements and ignoring the effect of any repayment on demand clause, the maturity of borrowings would be as follows:

	2024	2023
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Within 1 year	1,285,569	1,534,260
Between 1 and 2 years	248,999	_
Between 2 and 5 years	101,099	_
Over 5 years	75,558	78,423
	1,711,225	1,612,683

(b) The weighted average interest rate during the year were as follows:

	2024	2023
Short-term bank loans	4.7%	5.2%
Long-term bank loans	4.6%	5.0%

Foreign Exchange

Operations of the Group was mainly conducted in Chinese Renminbi ("RMB"), Hong Kong dollars ("HK\$"), Macao Patacas ("MOP"), United States dollars ("US\$") (together, the "Major Currencies") and Indonesian Rupiahs ("IDR"). The Group did not adopt any hedging policy and the Directors consider that the exposure to foreign exchange risks can be mitigated by using the Major Currencies (i) as principal currencies in the Group's contracts with customers; and (ii) to settle payments with its suppliers and operating expenses where possible.

Capital Expenditures

The Group generally finances its capital expenditures by cash flows generated from its operation and long-term bank borrowings. The Group did not incur any significant capital expenditures during the FY2024.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint Ventures

The Group had no material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the FY2024.

Significant Investments Held

The Group had not held any significant investments during the FY2024.

Charges on Assets

As at 31 December 2024, deposits of HK\$116.2 million (2023: HK\$31.1 million) were pledged to secure for the Group's bank borrowings.

Contingent Liabilities

Save for the disclosure set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group has no material contingent liabilities.

Relationships with Employees, Customers and Suppliers

The Directors recognise that employees, customers and business partners are the keys to the sustainable development of the Group. The Group is committed to building a close and caring relationship with its employees and business partners and improving the quality of services to the customers.

Employees and remuneration policies

Employees are regarded as the most important and valuable assets of the Group. The Group ensures all staff is reasonably remunerated and its workers are provided with regular training courses on operation of different types of machinery, as well as work safety. The Group strives to motivate its employees with a clear career path and opportunities for advancement and improvement of their skills.

The number of staff of the Group by functions as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

	As at 31 December		
	2024	2023	
Management and administration	51	93	
Accounting and finance	19	25	
Human resources	11	6	
Project management	85	318	
Project execution	401	218	
	567	660	

The total staff costs of the Group (including Directors' emoluments, salaries to staff, direct wages and other staff benefits included provident fund contributions and other staff benefits) for the FY2024 was approximately HK\$127.2 million (FY2023: HK\$188.6 million). The Group determines the salary of its employees mainly based on each employee's qualifications, relevant experience, position and seniority. The Group monitors the performance of individual employee on a continuous basis and rewards outstanding performance of the employees by salary revision, bonus and promotion where suitable. The Group maintains a good relationship with its employees and has not experienced any significant problems with its employees due to labour disputes nor any difficulty in the recruitment and retention of experienced staff.

Customers and suppliers

The executive Directors and the Group's management team maintain frequent contact with both public and private sector participants in the construction industry in Hong Kong, Macao and overseas to keep abreast of market developments and potential business opportunities. Having been in operation in Hong Kong since 2001, and with the prior experience of the Group's senior management members in managing similar projects overseas, the Group has developed a good reputation in the construction industry. With the Group's experience in working with PRC state-owned construction enterprises and their branch offices in Hong Kong and overseas, the Group has up-to-date information regarding new business opportunities in infrastructure projects to be undertaken or tendered by such construction enterprises in Hong Kong, Macao and Southeast Asia. The Directors believe that the Group has maintained and will be able to continue to maintain good relationships with customers, potential customers, suppliers, subcontractors and other parties involved in the business. The Group also stays connected with its customers and suppliers and has ongoing communication with the customers and suppliers through various channels such as telephone, electronic mails and physical meetings to obtain their feedback and suggestions.

Dividend

The board of Directors do not recommend payment of a dividend for the FY2024.

Environmental Policies

The Group is committed to environment conservation when undertaking its operation and has implemented various systems and measures to minimise the possibility of pollution and to preserve the marine ecological environment, which include but are not limited to the following:

- (i) identifying environmental protection requirements in project tender documents and assessing whether the Group has the capability to meet such requirements;
- (ii) taking into consideration the environmental impacts in project planning and the design of work method statements;
- (iii) equipping all of the Group's vessels with fuel leakage defence equipment for suppressing the spread of floating fuel spills in case of leakage;
- (iv) installing facilities as required to prevent contamination, such as silt curtains to prevent sediment pollution when carrying out land reclamation works and underwater bubble curtains to act as a noise barriers to reduce noise level from marine piling works; and
- (v) sorting excavated materials from dredging and excavation works for recycling use or disposal, and in case of contaminated sediment, disposing of the excavated materials at designated dumping area according to the relevant regulations.

The Group is accredited with ISO14001 and follows the procedures and requirements of the environmental management system in its operation. There had been no sanctions or penalties imposed on the Group for violation of any environmental laws or regulations during the FY2024.

Principal Risk and Uncertainty

The Group's operation is subject to general economic and market risks which may affect the competition and profitability of marine construction projects. Furthermore, the Group's ability to successfully bid for or execute projects is dependent on its ability to devise effective and efficient work methods and the availability of vessels and equipment. The Group's operation at overseas locations is susceptible to potential political unrests, changes in business, foreign investment, taxation and currency control regulations at such jurisdictions.

Significant Events After the Financial Year

No significant event has occurred after 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this report which would have a material effect on the Group.

Corporate Governance Report

Corporate Governance Report

Corporate Governance Practices

The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of corporate governance and considers that conducting business in an ethical and responsible manner will generate the highest level of benefits to its shareholders and the Group in the long term. The Board will continuously review and improve the Group's corporate governance practices in order to uphold a transparent and effective corporate governance function for the Group.

The Company has adopted the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code ("CG Code") as set out in Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited ("Stock Exchange") ("Listing Rules") and has complied with the code provisions throughout the FY2024, except that the role of chairman of the Board and chief executive officer of the Group were not segregated since 28 June 2022 and had been taken up by the same person, Mr. Jiang Hongchang. The non-compliance has been rectified in June 2024 when Mr. Liu Yutao, an executive Director, was appointed chief executive officer of the Group in place of Mr. Jiang Hongchang, who remained as an executive Director and the chairman of the Board. The Board believes that the current arrangement will enhance the balance of power and authority within the Group.

Directors' Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules (the "Model Code") and all the Directors confirmed, upon specific enquiry made, that they complied with the Model Code throughout the FY2024.

The Company has also established guidelines no less exacting than the Model Code for securities transactions by employees who are likely to be in possession of inside information of the Company and there is no incident of non-compliance with such guidelines by the relevant employees throughout the FY2024.

Board of Directors

The Board is responsible for leading and directing the Group's business through formulation of overall strategies and policies, evaluation of performance and overseeing the management function. In discharging its duties, the Board acts in good faith with due diligence and care, and makes decisions objectively in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. The execution of strategies and implementation of policies in the Group's daily operations are delegated to the management team.

The composition of the Board during the FY2024 and the attendance record of each Director at board meetings and general meetings held during the FY2024 are set out below.

	Attendance/	Attendance/
	Board	General
	meetings held	meetings held
Executive Directors		
Mr. Jiang Hongchang (Chairman) (Chief executive officer until 27 June 2024)	7/9	1/1
Ms. Dong Fang (Deputy Chairman) (Appointed on 27 June 2024)	5/6	0/0
Mr. Liu Yutao (Appointed as chief executive officer on 27 June 2024)	7/9	1/1
Mr. Yang Honghai (Resigned on 27 June 2024)	3/3	1/1
Mr. Ni Chuchen (Chief operating officer from 27 June 2024 to 10 January 2025)	9/9	1/1
Mr. Du Jianzhi	9/9	1/1
Independent Non-executive Directors		
Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis	9/9	1/1
Mr. Wang Yaping (Retired on 26 June 2024)	2/2	1/1
Mr. Cheng Xuezhan (Resigned on 15 August 2024)	4/4	1/1
Ms. Chen Yan	8/9	1/1
Mr. Liu Junchun (Appointed on 15 August 2024)	5/5	0/0

Biographic details of and the relationship amongst the Directors are presented in the "Directors and Senior Management" section of this annual report. Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company for an initial term of three years, while each of the independent non-executive Directors has been appointed for an initial term of one year except Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis, who has been appointed for an initial term of two years. Notwithstanding the specific term of appointment, provisions of the Company's articles of associations require that every Director is subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years and any new Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until the next following general meeting of the Company.

Ms. Dong Fang was newly appointed as an executive Director and deputy chairman of the Board effective from 27 June 2024; she has obtained legal advice as referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 19 June 2024 and confirmed she understood her obligations as a Director.

Mr. Liu Junchun was newly appointed as an independent non-executive Director effective from 15 August 2024; he has obtained legal advice as referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 7 August 2024 and confirmed he understood his obligations as a Director.

Each of the Directors has participated in continuous professional development seminar organised by the Company or studied the seminar materials to develop their knowledge and skills during the FY2024.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence and considers that each of them to be independent by reference to the Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The composition of the Board provides sufficient balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives in leading the Company to achieve its goal and the independent non-executive Directors provide independent judgment in the Board's overall decision making process.

Board Committee

As an integral part of good corporate governance, the Board has established five committees for overseeing the performance of specific functions which are set out in written terms of reference for each committee. The summary of their work during the FY2024 is as follows:

- developed and reviewed the Company's policies and practices on corporate governance and make recommendations;
- reviewed and monitored the training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior management of the Group;
- monitored the Company's policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
- considered the salary adjustment for Directors and senior management and assessment of overall remuneration policy of the Group;
- considered the suitability of auditor re-appointment and new auditor appointment; and
- reviewed the Company's compliance with CG Code and disclosure in the corporate governance report.

The composition of each committee and attendance of members at committee meeting held during the FY2024 are as follow.

				Risk	Strategy and
	Audit	Remuneration	Nomination	Management	Investment
Composition of Board committees	Committee	Committee	Committee	Committee	Committee
		Attendance	e/Number of meetir	ngs held	
		(C=Chairman;	M=Member of the	committee)	
Independent Non-executive Directors					
Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis	6/6 (C)	2/2 (M)	2/2 (M)	1/1 (M)	0/0 (M)
Mr. Wang Yaping (resigned on 26 June 2024)	2/2 (M)	1/1 (C)	1/1 (M)	1/1 (M)	0/0 (M)
Mr. Cheng Xuezhan (resigned on 15 August 2024)	2/2 (M)	1/1 (M)	2/2 (M)	1/1 (M)	0/0 (M)
Ms. Chen Yan	6/6 (M)	2/2 (C)	2/2 (M)	1/1 (M)	0/0 (M)
Mr. Liu Junchun (appointed to the committees on					
15 August 2024)	4/4 (M)	1/1 (M)	0/0 (M)	0/0 (M)	0/0 (M)
Executive Directors					
Mr. Jiang Hongchang	N/A	2/2 (M)	2/2 (C)	1/1 (C)	0/0 (C)
Mr. Yang Honghai (resigned on 27 June 2024)	N/A	1/1 (M)	2/2 (M)	1/1 (M)	0/0 (M)
Mr. Ni Chuchen	N/A	2/2 (M)	2/2 (M)	N/A	0/0 (M)
Mr. Du Jianzhi	N/A	N/A	N/A	1/1 (M)	N/A
Mr. Liu Yutao (appointed to the committees on					
27 June 2024)	N/A	1/1 (M)	0/0 (M)	0/0 (M)	0/0 (M)

Audit committee

The audit committee is primarily responsible for the engagement of the auditor, review of financial information, overseeing the financial reporting system, risk management and internal control systems. Members of the audit committee also provided their advice to the Board on continuing connected transactions entered into during the FY2024. The audit committee has met with the Company's management to review its interim and final consolidated financial statements for the FY2024 and met the Company's auditor to discuss auditor's independence, audit approach, key audit matters, results of audit and review on continuing connected transactions for the FY2024. The audit committee also (i) met with the Company's predecessor auditor on the proposed change of auditor and potential matters (if any) warranting communication with shareholders of the Company in relation to the resignation of auditor; and (ii) met with the newly appointed auditor and considered their suitability for appointment and assess potential impact on quality and timing of the audit for FY2024. The audit committee has met with the chairman of the Board and the auditor, separately and without the presence of management, for discussion of matters which may be of sensitive nature. Further information on the Group's risk management and internal control is set out in the section headed "Risk Management and Internal Control" of this report.

Nomination committee

The nomination committee is responsible for reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board, identifying suitably qualified individuals to become Board members, assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors, making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or reappointment of Directors and assessing the diversity of Directors. The Company has a policy on diversity of Directors to ensure that the Board has the appropriate mix of expertise and experience, and collectively possesses the necessary core competence for informed decision-making and effective functioning. In determining the Board's composition and selection of candidates to the Board, the nomination committee will consider factors including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and education background, or professional experience. It will also ensure that the Board shall comprise members with the following attributes in order to achieve a sufficient balance of knowledge and perspectives in discharging the Board's duties:

- management skills and experience;
- industry specific knowledge and experience relevant to the Group;
- financial management skills and experience; and
- legal and compliance expertise.

The Company does not discriminate on the basis of gender, age and other personal backgrounds in assessing the suitability of candidates for appointment to the Board. The Board also acknowledges stakeholders' expectation and international best practices calling for gender parity and accordingly, the nomination committee will give favourable consideration to gender minority in the selection of candidates amongst those who are equally competent and possess the desired attributes to enhance gender balance of the Board over time.

The procedures to nominate candidates for election as Directors are set out in the section headed "Shareholders' Rights and Investor Relations" below.

The nomination committee has reviewed the independence of independent non-executive Directors, considered the retirement and proposal for appointment of Directors at the Company's annual general meeting, and considered the proposed appointment of new Directors to fill up vacancies on the Board during the FY2024. The nomination committee also provided advice to the Board on determining policy to enhance gender diversity in the composition of the Board and employees in general and will review the effectiveness of gender diversity policy on an annual basis. The nomination committee is of the view that the Board comprises members with suitable qualifications and diversity for leading and governing the Group.

In relation to gender diversity, the Company has dispensed with a single-gender Board in 2023 and fulfilled the requirement of the Listing Rules and will aim to attain greater gender balance in the coming few years. The nomination committee will also review gender composition of the Company's senior management and general staff, by reference to industrial and demographic statistics etc., on an annual basis and determine the appropriate procedures to take to enhance gender diversity in the workforce as required. The composition of the Group's workforce as at 31 December 2024 is as follows.

	Number of staff	Proportion
Male	456	80.4%
Female	111	19.6%

Remuneration committee

The responsibilities of the remuneration committee are to make recommendations to the Board on policy and structure for Directors' and senior management's remuneration, to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of executive and non-executive Directors, and to ensure that no Director is involved in deciding his own remuneration. During the FY2024, the remuneration committee has assessed the performance of the Directors, reviewed the remuneration of the Directors in general, considered special adjustment in salary of specific Directors and senior management staff, considered the remuneration of the newly appointed Directors, reviewed the Group's policy on performance assessment of Directors and made recommendations to the Board thereon.

Strategy and investment committee

The strategy and investment committee is responsible for reviewing and evaluating the Group's development plan and strategy, reviewing and making recommendation to the Board on key investment proposals, and evaluating the Group's risk exposure from investment projects as a whole. The Group did not have any investment or acquisition plan and the committee had not held any meeting during the FY2024.

Risk management committee

The primary duties of the risk management committee are to oversee the Group's risk management and internal control systems, to review risk reports and any material breaches of risk limits, and to review the effectiveness of the Group's risk management system. Further information on the Group's risk management and internal control is set out in the section headed "Risk Management and Internal Control" of this report.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the risks to take in achieving the Company's strategic objectives.

The risk management committee supports the Board in ensuring the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control of the Group and reports to the Board on any material issues identified. The Group adopted a manual of policies and procedures to provide guidance on compliance with internal control and risk management in various operational and management functions, including but not limited to project tendering, procurement, financial reporting, treasury and risk management etc.

The Company has not established a separate internal audit department; however, procedures are in place to provide adequate resources and qualified personnel to carry out the duties of the internal audit function, including annual review of the effectiveness of risk management and internal control. The Company has engaged an external independent consultant to conduct a review on the internal control system of the Group during the FY2024 and to report their findings to the risk management committee and the Board. The review scope for the FY2024 covered construction in progress cycle, financial management function, inventory and capital assets management function, communication and data management function, and compliance management and control.

Based on the review conducted, the Board considers that the Group's risk management and internal control systems are effective and adequate. However, the risk management and internal control systems of the Group are designed to manage rather than to eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Auditor's Remuneration

The remuneration paid to the Company's auditor for the FY2024 is set out below.

HK\$

Audit services provided to the Group

2,200,000

Directors' and Auditor's Responsibilities for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of consolidated financial statements which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group. The responsibilities of the Company's auditor on the consolidated financial statements of the Group are set out in the independent auditor's report on pages 35 to 42 of this annual report. The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events of conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

Company Secretary

The Company's company secretary is Mr. Lee Baldwin, who is an external service provider and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Liu Yutao, executive Director, is the Company's primary contact person with Mr. Lee.

The company secretary is responsible for coordinating the supply of information about the Group to the Directors. All Directors have access to the company secretary to ensure that Board procedures, and all applicable law, rules and regulations, are followed.

Shareholders' Rights and Investor Relations

One or more shareholders holding not less than 10% of the paid up capital of the Company may convene an extraordinary general meeting by making a requisition in writing, specifying any business for transaction at such meeting, to the Directors or the company secretary.

To propose a candidate for election as a Director at a general meeting, a shareholder should deposit a written proposal, together with a written notice by the candidate indicating his willingness to be elected, to the Company either at its principal place of business in Hong Kong (at Rooms 03-08, 24/F, Shui On Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong) or its branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong (Tricor Investor Services Limited, 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong) at least seven clear days before the date of the general meeting.

The Company believes that effective communication with its shareholders is essential for enhancing investors' understanding of the Group's business and performance. The Company maintains a corporate website at www.prosperch.com to disseminate latest information about the Group. The Company's constitution document and terms of reference of board committees are also available for download at Company's website. There has been no change in the Company's constitution document during FY2024. The chairman of the Board will attend, and endeavour to ensure the chairmen of various board committees to attend, general meetings to answer questions from shareholders.

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns in writing to the Board by addressing them to the Company at our principal place of business in Hong Kong at Rooms 03-08, 24/F, Shui On Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.



The Directors submit their report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holdings. The principal activities of the Group are the provision of marine construction services, auxiliary marine related services and general construction contracting services. The principal activities of the subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note [14] to the consolidated financial statements. The segment information of the operations of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out in note [5] to the consolidated financial statements.

Business Review

A review on the Group's business for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out under the section headed "Management Discussion and Analysis" of this annual report.

Results

The Group's results for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page 43 and 44 of this annual report, respectively.

Dividend Policy and Dividends

The Directors acknowledge the importance of stakeholders' engagement and would contemplate at least two times a year (prior to the announcement of annual and interim results) on the distribution of a dividend. While the Directors endeavour to share the Group's results with shareholders by way of a dividend, the portion and actual amount of distribution out of profits will be determined by the Directors having regard to a variety of factors, including but not limited to the Group's actual and expected operating results and conditions, gearing level, general financial condition, availability of cash, future plans and funding needs for expansion.

The Directors do not recommended the payment of a dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board was not aware of any shareholders who had waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

Summary Financial Information

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five years is set out on page 136 of this annual report. Such summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

Share Capital

Details of movement in the Company's share capital during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 27(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

Reserves

Details of movement in the Group's and the Company's reserves during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note [27(b)] and note [39(b)] to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

The Company's distributable reserves amounted to approximately HK\$152.8 million as at 31 December 2024.

Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the "Share Option Scheme") on 22 June 2016 and no options have been granted, exercised or cancelled since then and up to the date of this annual report.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company to grant options to selected participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group. It is expected that grantees of an option will make an effort to contribute to the Group's development so as to bring about an increased market price of the Company's shares in order to capitalise on the benefits of the options granted. The Board may, at its absolute discretion, grant options pursuant to the Share Option Scheme to any directors or employees of the Company or its subsidiaries and any other persons (including customer, supplier, adviser or consultant of the Group) on the basis of the Board's opinion as to the grantee's contribution to the development and growth of the Group.

The total number of shares which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all options (excluding, for this purpose, options which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group) to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group must not in aggregate exceed 80,000,000 shares (being 10% of the shares in issue on 20 July 2016 when the shares of the Company first commenced dealing on the Stock Exchange) (the "General Scheme Limit"). The Company may seek approval of the shareholders in a general meeting to refresh the General Scheme Limit provided that the total number of shares which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share options scheme of the Group must not exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at the date of approval of the refreshed limit.

The maximum number of shares which may be allotted and issued upon the exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme adopted by the Group must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time.

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon exercise of the options granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group (including both exercised or outstanding options) to each participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company for the time being.

An option may be accepted by a participant within 21 days from the date of the offer of grant of the option and may be exercised at any time during a period to be determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee, but such period shall end in any event not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the option. A nominal consideration of HK\$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant of an option.

The subscription price for shares under the Share Option Scheme will be a price determined by the Board, but shall not be less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of the offer of grant, which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years from the date of adoption.

Pre-emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

Tax Relief and Exemption

The Company is not aware any holder of securities of the Company is entitled to any tax relief or exemption by reason of their holdings of such securities.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company's Listed Securities

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries, had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Directors

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Jiang Hongchang (Chairman)

Ms. Dong Fang (Deputy Chairman) (Appointed on 27 June 2024)

Mr. Liu Yutao (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Yang Honghai (Resigned on 27 June 2024)

Mr. Ni Chuchen (Resigned on 28 March 2025)

Mr. Du Jianzhi

Mr. Zhou Hongbao (Chief Operating Officer) (Appointed on 10 January 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis

Mr. Wang Yaping (Retired on 26 June 2024)

Mr. Cheng Xuezhan (Resigned on 15 August 2024)

Ms. Chen Yan

Mr. Liu Junchun (Appointed on 15 August 2024)

In accordance with applicable provisions of the Company's articles of association, Mr. Jiang Hongchang, Mr. Du Jianzhi, Ms. Dong Fang, Mr. Liu Junchun and Mr. Zhou Hongbao will retire at the Company's forthcoming annual general meeting. Except for Ms. Dong Fang who did not offer herself for re-election, all the retiring Directors are eligible and have offered themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Directors' Service Contracts

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual meeting has a service contract with the Company or any member of the Group which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Directors Interests in Transactions, Arrangements or Contracts

Except as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, no other contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year, nor had there been any contracts or arrangements in which any of the Directors was materially interested and which was significant in relation to the Group's business as a whole.

Disclosure of Interests

As at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the "SFO")) as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or as notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the "Model Code") as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules.

So far as the Directors are aware, as at 31 December 2024, the interest and short positions of the persons, other than a director or chief executive of the Company, in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO are as follows:

Substantial shareholders' interests in the Company

Shareholder	Number of shares/ Position	Percentage of shareholding	Capacity
Qingdao West Coast Holdings (Internation)	498,000,000	62.25%	Beneficial owner
Limited	Long position		
West Coast Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited(Note 1)	498,000,000	62.25%	Interest of a controlled
	Long position		corporation
Qingdao Haifa Assets Investment Holding Limited*	498,000,000	62.25%	Interest of a controlled
青島海發產業投資控股有限公司(Note 1)	Long position		corporation
Qingdao Haifa State-owned Capital Investment and	498,000,000	62.25%	Interest of a controlled
Operation Group Co. Ltd.*	Long position		corporation
青島海發國有資本投資運營集團有限公司(Note 1)			
Qingdao State-owned Assets Supervision and	498,000,000	62.25%	Interest of a controlled
Administration Commission of the State Council	Long position		corporation
Herofield Limited ^(Note 2)	61,200,000	7.65%	Interest of a controlled
	Long position		corporation
Mr. Cui Qi ^(Note 2)	61,200,000	7.65%	Interest of a controlled
	Long position		corporation
Ms. Mu Zhen ^(Note 3)	61,200,000	7.65%	Interest of spouse
	Long position		

Notes:

- Each of these entities was wholly owned and controlled by the Qingdao State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the State
 Council and was deemed under the SFO to be interested in all the Share which are directly and beneficially owned by Qingdao West Coast Holdings
 (International) Limited.
- 2. Mr. Cui Qi is deemed or taken to be interested in all the Shares which are beneficially owned by Herofield Limited under the SFO, which is wholly-owned and controlled by Mr. Cui Qi.
- 3. Ms. Mu Zhen is the spouse of Mr. Cui Qi and she is deemed or taken to be interested in all the Shares which are beneficially owned by Mr. Cui Qi under the SFO.
- * For identification purpose only

Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's five largest customers in aggregate and the single largest customer accounted for approximately 23.1% (2023: 33.3%) and 6.3% (2023: 12.0%) of the Group's total turnover, respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's five largest suppliers in aggregate and the single largest supplier accounted for approximately 11.6% (2023: 11.1%) and 2.6% (2023: 3.4%) of the Group's total cost of sales, respectively.

To the best of the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company's issued share capital) had an interest in these major customers or suppliers.

Related Party Transactions

Related party transactions entered into by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 are disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements, which included certain transactions in the section headed "Continuing Connected Transactions" below that constituted continuing connected transactions for which the disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules have been complied with.

Continuing Connected Transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had carried out the following non-exempt continuing connected transactions.

Construction services framework agreements

The Group entered into a construction services framework agreement ("Construction Services Framework Agreement") with Qingdao Haifa State-owned Capital Investment and Operation Group Co. Ltd.* (青島海發國有資本投資運營集團有限公司) (Previously known as Qingdao West Coast Development (Group) Limited*) ("Qingdao Haifa Group Co.", together with its subsidiaries and/or affiliated companies, the "Haifa Group") on 16 November 2023 for the provision of construction services by the Group to the Haifa Group. Particulars of the Construction Services Framework Agreement are set out below.

Date:

16 November 2023

Term:

From 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2026 (both dates inclusive)

Parties:

- (i) Qingdao Haifa Group Co. (as owner)
- (ii) West Coast Development (Hong Kong) Limited ("West Coast Development HK") (for and on behalf of the Group)

Connected relationship:

Qingdao Haifa Group Co. is a controlling shareholder and the ultimate holding company of the Company holding 62.25% of the Company's issued shares.

West Coast Development HK is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.

Transaction:

The Group has agreed to provide construction services to the Haifa Group and may therefore participate in bidding for construction projects of the Haifa Group in the PRC from time to time.

If any tenders submitted by the Group have been awarded in accordance with the bidding procedures of the Haifa Group, the Group shall enter into individual construction contracts (the "Individual Contracts") with the Haifa Group for the provision of construction services by the Group as the contractor subject to terms and conditions of the Construction Services Framework Agreement at fair and reasonable market prices and subject to the requirements under the Listing Rules. The contract sum payable under each of the Individual Contracts will be determined through an open tender process to ensure that the price and terms of the tender submitted by the Group are on normal commercial terms and no less favourable to the Group than those submitted to independent third parties, or the market prices or benchmarks for transactions of similar nature.

^{*} For identification purpose only

Reasons for the transaction:

The Group has expanded its operation into the construction industry in the PRC since year 2020 with the acquisition of Dongjie Construction, which possesses the necessary qualifications and/or licenses to engage in construction projects in the PRC, as part of its strategy to diversify its business. The Group further acquired 34% equity interest in and control over the board of Honghai Curtain Wall in 2021 which served to enhance the Group's service offerings and competitiveness in its general construction contracting business. The Haifa Group is principally engaged in infrastructure construction, land development, real estate development and other industrial investment and operations (including cultural, tourism and financial services).

By entering into the Construction Services Framework Agreement and subsequently acting as a contractor for successful bids, the Group aims to consolidate and strengthen its construction business in the PRC. By collaborating with the Haifa Group, the Group is expanding its business portfolio, enhancing its market competitiveness and overall presence in the dynamic construction landscape of the PRC.

The annual caps under the Construction Services Framework Agreement were determined with reference to the estimated revenue to be derived from Individual Contracts that have been entered into, and that may be entered into between the Group and the Haifa Group during the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2026, which included:

- (i) 36 Individual Contracts already entered into between the Group and the Haifa Group at the time;
- (ii) five projects with the Haifa Group which the Group were in processing of bidding for within the year 2023; and
- (iii) expected increase in potential projects from the Haifa Group which might be awarded to the Group during the three years ending 31 December 2026.

Annual cap

Year ending 31 December 2024: RMB1,200,000,000 Year ending 31 December 2025: RMB1,500,000,000 Year ending 31 December 2026: RMB1,800,000,000

Actual transaction amount:

Year ended 31 December 2024: RMB315,781,000

Engineering services framework agreement

The Group entered into an engineering services framework agreement ("Engineering Services Framework Agreement") with Big Data Company (as defined further below) on 10 July 2024, pursuant to which Big Data Company agreed to provide software development and construction automation engineering project services to Dongjie Construction. Particulars of the Engineering Services Framework Agreement are set out below.

Date:

10 July 2024

Terms:

From 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (both dates inclusive)

Parties:

- (i) Dongjie Construction
- (ii) Qingdao Big Data Technology Development Group Co., Ltd.* (青島大數據科技發展有限公司) ("Big Data Company"), a company established in the PRC with limited liability

Connected relationship:

Dongjie Construction is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.

Big Data Company is a controlled subsidiary of Qingdao Haifa Group Co., a controlling shareholder and ultimate holding company of the Company.

Transaction:

Big Data Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the "Big Data Group") will provide software development and construction automation engineering project services to Dongjie Construction and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the "Dongjie Group"), including but not limited to the software development for construction project industry platform, and intelligent engineering project services for constructions such as parks, communities, hospitals, hotels and office buildings. The pricing of the services for each project under the Engineering Services Framework Agreement shall be determined with reference to the market price or, in the absence of such market price, the agreed price which is fair and reasonable. The Big Data Group may be selected as the project service provider through a tender or quotation process in accordance with the normal procedures, based on the design, equipment, quality standards and construction requirements of individual projects.

Reasons for the transaction:

The Dongjie Group is in the general construction contracting business and the Big Data Group is engaged in supply chain management services, engineering management services, software development services, sales of building materials and other businesses. The expertise of the Big Data Group in the aspects of engineering management service and software development service is aligned with the Dongjie Group and, on the basis of fair market prices, the selection of the Big Data Group as the project subcontractor is able to provide convenient, high-quality, high-efficiency, and cost-effective engineering services to Dongjie Group which are of great benefit to improving the market competitiveness and profitability of both parties.

Annual cap:

Year ending 31 December 2024: RMB9,210,000

Actual transaction amount:

RMB9,017,000

^{*} For identification purpose only

Contractual arrangements ("Contractual Arrangements")

Background and reasons for the Contractual Arrangements: Pursuant to Indonesia law, the maximum foreign ownership in a company engaging in the construction of harbour/port is limited to 67%. The Group has 67% shareholding interest in a subsidiary in Indonesia, namely PT. Indonesia Engineering ("PTIR"). The remaining 33% of the shareholding interest in PTIR is held by Johannes Wargo, who is an Indonesian citizen and independent third party of the Group except for his involvement in the Contractual Arrangements.

To consolidate control over and derive the economic benefits from the remaining 33% of the shareholding interest in PTIR, the Group has, through its subsidiary Hong Kong River Engineering Company Limited ("HKR"), entered into the Contractual Arrangements with Johannes Wargo.

Risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements:

In the event of change in relevant laws and regulations in Indonesia in the future, there is no assurance that the Contractual Arrangements will be considered to be in compliance with the then prevailing laws and regulations; in which case, the Contractual Arrangements may become unenforceable and the Group may be subject to potential losses.

To mitigate such risks, Johannes Wargo has irrevocably appointed HKR to act as his attorney to exercise his rights in connection with the matters concerning his rights as a shareholder of PTIR, including the rights to vote in a shareholders' meeting, sign minutes and to sell his shares. The Group also closely monitors the amount of assets being retained in Indonesia to limit the exposure to potential losses. The amount of revenue derived by the Group through the Contractual Arrangements for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to approximately HK\$1,314,000.

The Contractual Arrangements comprised the following documents.

1. PTIR Loan Agreements

HKR, as lender, and Johannes Wargo, as borrower, entered into a loan agreement on 5 October 2015 and an amendment and restatement of loan agreement on 5 May 2016 (collectively, the "PTIR Loan Agreements"), pursuant to which HKR agreed to provide a loan ("PTIR Loan") in the sum of IDR1,211,496,000 to Johannes Wargo to acquire 1,320 shares in PTIR ("Johannes Shares"). The PTIR Loan was secured by the Johannes Shares pursuant to the PTIR Pledge of Shares Agreements (as defined below). The PTIR Loan has a term of 10 years and will be automatically renewed upon expiration and shall be due and payable only on demand made at any time by HKR at its sole discretion. No prepayment of the PTIR Loan in whole or in part is permitted at any time during the term of the PTIR Loan Agreements.

2. PTIR Pledge of Shares Agreements

HKR, as pledgee, and Johannes Wargo, as pledgor, entered into a pledge of shares agreement on 5 October 2015 and an amendment and restatement of pledge of shares agreement on 5 May 2016 (collectively, the "PTIR Pledge of Shares Agreements"), pursuant to which Johannes Wargo pledged the Johannes Shares in favour of HKR in order to secure the due and proper repayment of the PTIR Loan and the full performance by Johannes Wargo. Johannes Wargo also undertook not to do any act or sign any documents which may limit the rights of HKR under the PTIR Pledge of Shares Agreements or diminish the value of the Johannes Shares.

3. PTIR Power of Attorney ("PoA") for Selling Shares

Johannes Wargo appointed HKR as his attorney on 5 October 2015 to (i) sell, assign, transfer or otherwise deal with the Johannes Shares; (ii) receive the proceeds of the sale of Johannes Shares; and (iii) represent Johannes Wargo in all matters pertaining to the sale or transfer of the Johannes Shares.

4. PTIR PoA to Vote

Johannes Wargo appointed HKR as his attorney on 5 May 2016 to (i) attend all general meetings of PTIR; (ii) exercise all voting rights with respect to the Johannes Shares; (iii) sign any shareholders resolutions; and (iv) generally exercise all rights and privileges and perform all duties which may be necessary in relation to the Johannes Shares.

5. PTIR Assignment of Dividends Agreements

Johannes Wargo, as assignor, and HKR, as assignee, entered into an assignment of rights to dividends agreement on 5 October 2015 and an amendment and restatement of assignment of rights to dividends agreement on 5 May 2016 (collectively, the "PTIR Assignment of Dividends Agreements"), pursuant to which Johannes Wargo assigned and transferred all his rights and interests in all dividends or other income paid or payable by PTIR with respect to the Johannes Shares to HKR during the term of the PTIR Loan.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no new contract had been entered into, renewed or reproduced in relation to the Contractual Arrangements under cloned arrangement as set out in the Company's prospectus dated 30 June 2016. The Contractual Arrangements in relation to PTIR have remained unchanged and consistent with the disclosure as set out in the aforesaid prospectus.

Review of Continuing Connected Transactions

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the continuing connected transactions disclosed above and confirmed that the transactions have been entered into (a) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (b) on normal commercial terms or better; and (c) according to the relevant agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company's shareholders as a whole.

Furthermore, in relation to the Contractual Arrangements, the independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and confirmed that:

- (i) the transactions have been entered into in accordance with the relevant terms and conditions of the Contractual Arrangements;
- (ii) no dividends or other distributions have been made by PTIR to the holders of its remaining shareholding which are not otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group; and
- (iii) no new contracts were entered into, renewed or reproduced under any cloned arrangement as defined in the Prospectus during the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Company has engaged its auditor to report on the continuing connected transactions in accordance with Practice Note 740 (Revised) "Auditor's Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules" issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has provided an unqualified letter to the Board containing their conclusion in relation to the continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31 December 2024 in accordance with rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, the Directors are indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company against all losses and liabilities which may incur or sustain in execution of their duty, except such which they shall incur or sustain through their own fraud or dishonesty.

The Company has taken out directors' liability insurance throughout the year ended 31 December 2024 that provides appropriate insurance cover for the Directors.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The operations of the Group are primarily carried out by the Company's subsidiaries in the PRC, Hong Kong, Macao, Indonesia and Malaysia. The Group's establishment and operations shall comply with relevant laws and regulations in each of the above jurisdictions. During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this report, the Group's operations have complied with all the relevant laws and regulations in each of the above jurisdictions in all material respects.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the minimum public float required under the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this report.

Auditor

PricewaterhouseCoopers resigned as auditor of the Company with effect from 20 December 2024 and the Board has resolved to appoint BDO Limited as auditor to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of PricewaterhouseCoopers.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 have been audited by BDO Limited, who will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution to re-appoint BDO Limited will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

By order of the Board of **Prosper Construction Holdings Limited**

JIANG Hongchang
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025

Directors and Senior Management

Executive Directors

Mr. Jiang Hongchang, aged 48, joined the Group in June 2022 and is an executive Director and the chairman of the Board. He served as chief executive officer of the Group from June 2022 until June 2024. Mr. Jiang is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company and the chairman of the nomination committee, risk management committee and strategy and investment committee of the Board and a member of the remuneration committee of the Board. Mr. Jiang leads the Board in formulating business strategies of the Group.

Mr. Jiang holds a bachelor's degree in civil engineering from Shandong University of Technology in the People's Republic of China and is qualified as a senior engineer. Mr. Jiang is currently a Party Committee member, deputy general manager and chief engineer of Qingdao Haifa State-owned Capital Investment and Operation Group Company Limited, the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company. Mr. Jiang has over 25 years of experience in professional construction engineering management and served at various positions with government bureau and state-owned enterprises from 1999 to present.

Mr. Liu Yutao, aged 50, joined the Group in June 2022 and is an executive Director and a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group, including Qingdao Dongjie Construction Engineering Co. Ltd. Mr. Liu is overall in charge of the Group's general construction contracting business segment. Mr. Liu served as the chief operating officer of the Group from June 2022 until 2024 and is the chief executive officer of the Group since June 2024.

Mr. Liu holds a bachelor's degree in computer and application from China University of Petroleum in the People's Republic of China and is qualified as a senior engineer. Mr. Liu is currently the vice chairman and general manager of Qingdao Dongjie Construction Group Co., Ltd.* (青島東捷建設集團有限公司) and a director of Qingdao Honghai Curtain Wall Co., Ltd.* (青島宏海幕牆有限公司), both of which are subsidiaries of the Company, and is also serving as the vice chairman of Qingdao Haifa Asset Management Co., Ltd.* (青島海發資產管理有限公司), a subsidiary of Qingdao Haifa State-owned Capital Investment and Operation Group Co., Ltd.* (青島海發國有資本投資運營集團有限公司), the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company. Mr. Liu has over 26 years of experience in professional construction engineering management and served at various positions with state-owned enterprises and governmental office and bureau from 1996 to present.

Mr. Du Jianzhi, aged 44, joined a subsidiary of the Group in February 2022 and was appointed an executive Director in June 2023. Mr. Du assumes oversight of the operation of the Group's marine business segment, is a director of various key subsidiaries under the marine business segment, and is a member of the risk management committee of the Board.

Mr. Du graduated in civil engineering from the Shandong University of Science and Technology (山東科技大學) in the PRC and is qualified as a registered cost engineer (註冊造價師) since 2008 and a grade-one constructor (一級建造師) since 2010.

Mr. Du has over 18 years of experience in risk control, project costing and general construction project management. From 2002 to 2022, Mr. Du took up different positions in the construction division, audit division, and general manager office of various consultancy companies and had been the deputy head of risk control department of Qingdao West Coast Development (Group) Limited*.

^{*} For identification purpose only

Directors and Senior Management (continued)

Ms. Dong Fang, aged 54, joined the Company in June 2024 and is an executive Director and deputy chairman of the Board.

Ms. Dong holds a bachelor's degree in engineering from the University of Science and Technology Beijing. Ms. Dong has over 22 years of management experience in real estate and investment.

Ms. Dong Fang started her career in 1992 and has taken up position with various stateowned enterprises and commercial entities including the Guangdong Land group* (粵海置地集團), Wang Zhigang Studio Think Tank* (王志綱工作室), the Aoyuan group* (奧園集團), the Sunac group* (融創集團), the CITIC Properties group* (中信地產) etc., assuming duties in the area of sales development, strategic investment and general management. Ms. Dong Fang joined Qingdao Haifa State-owned Capital Investment and Operation Group Company Limited* (青島海發國有資本投資運營集團有限公司) (the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company) in May 2017, where her current position is chief operating officer.

Mr. Zhou Hongbao, aged 46, joined the Company in January 2025 and is an executive Director and chief operating officer. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Zhou holds a bachelor's degree in building engineering from the Shandong University of Science and Technology in the People's Republic of China. Mr. Zhou holds the qualification of senior engineer, constructor, electrical engineering constructor and registered cost engineer and holds the patent to a number of construction related new technologies. Mr. Zhou is competent in construction execution and engineering management, and has strong project management capability.

Mr. Zhou worked for Jinan First Construction Group, a state owned enterprise from July 2000 to April 2005. Mr. Zhou joined Qingdao Dongjie Construction Engineering Co. Ltd. (which subsequently became a subsidiary of the Company in 2020) in May 2005 until present, during which period he took up the positions of project manager, assistant to general manager, general manager of Guangzhou branch and took up the post of assistant to general manager of the Company since August 2024.

^{*} For identification purpose only

Directors and Senior Management (continued)

Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis, aged 57, is an independent non-executive Director and joined the Group in August 2017.

Mr. Cheung holds a master's degree in commerce from the University of New South Wales, Australia and a bachelor's degree in mechanical engineering from Imperial College, London, United Kingdom. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a certified tax adviser of The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. Mr. Cheung has over 20 years experience in financial management, treasury and company secretarial matters and is an independent non-executive director of Sanbase Corporation Limited (Stock code: 8501), which shares are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, since January 2020. In the past three years, Mr. Cheung was formerly an independent non-executive director of Lamtex Holdings Limited (Stock code: 1041) from August 2020 to October 2020 and New Western Group Limited (formerly known as Megalogic Technology Holding Limited) (Stock code: 8242) from April 2015 to June 2020.

Mr. Cheung is the chairman of the audit committee and a member of the remuneration committee, nomination committee, risk management committee and strategy and investment committee of the Board.

Ms. Chen Yan, aged 50, is an independent non-executive Director and joined the Group in December 2023.

Mr. Chen graduated in accountancy from Shandong University of Finance* (山東財政學院) in 2001 and obtained a master's degree in engineering (software engineering) from Tianjin University (天津大學) in 2012 and is qualified as a senior corporate compliance officer and holds title of senior economist. Ms. Chen is experienced in corporate management, industry investment, construction, operation and technology research with state-owned enterprise and has over 20 years of management experience in financial, operation, investment and corporate compliance functions and is the associate dean of The University of Hong Kong Shenzhen Institute of Research and Innovation since February 2022. During the past three years, Ms. Chen was a deputy general manager of Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8271), from February 2021 to March 2022.

Ms. Chen is a member of each of the audit committee, remuneration committee, nomination committee, risk management committee and strategy and investment committee of the Board.

^{*} For identification purpose only

Directors and Senior Management (continued)

Mr. Liu Junchun, aged 61, joined the Company in August 2024 and is an independent non-executive Director and a member of the audit committee, remuneration committee, nomination committee, risk management committee and strategy and investment committee.

Mr. Liu graduated from the East China University of Political Science and Law (international economic law department) with a bachelor of laws degree in 1986. He graduated from Peking University in 1999 with a master's degree in law.

From 1986 to 1991, Mr. Liu worked in Qingdao Foreign Economic and Trade Commission* (青島市對外經濟貿易委員會). From 1991 to 1993, he worked in the Department of Treaty and Law of the Ministry of Foreign Trade and Economic Cooperation* (外經貿部條約法律司). From 1993 to 1997, he served as the deputy director and director of the China Hainan Trade Center of the Ministry of Foreign Trade and Economic Cooperation* (外經貿部中國海南貿易中心). From 1997 to 2000, he served as the general manager of the Enterprise Management Department of the International Trade EDI Center of the Ministry of Foreign Trade and Economic Cooperation (外經貿部國際貿易EDI中心企業管理部). He joined HNA Group Company Limited* (海航集團有限公司) in 2000 and served as assistant to the president, senior assistant to the president, executive vice president and general executive vice president successively. From 2012 to 2014, he served as the vice chairman and chief executive officer of HNA Logistics Group Co., Ltd.* (海航物流集團有限公司). From 2014 to 2019, he served as the vice chairman of HNA Group (International) Company Limited* (海航集團 (國際) 有限公司). From 2016 to 2019, he served as non-executive director, executive director and vice chairman of the board of directors of Hong Kong International Construction Investment Management Group Co., Limited (now renamed as Tysan Holdings Limited) which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 687) successively. From 2017 to July 2023, he served as a director of Hong Kong HNA Group Company Limited. From February 2023 until now, he is an independent non-executive director of CNQC International Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 1240). Since 2021, he has served as the vice chairman of Rongfeng (Group) Holdings Co., Ltd.

Save as disclosed above, each of our Directors (i) did not hold other positions in our Company or other members of our Group as at the date of this report; (ii) had no other relationship with any Directors, senior management or substantial or Controlling Shareholders as at the date of this report; and (iii) did not hold any other directorships in listed public companies in the three years prior to the date of this report.

Senior Management

Senior management of the Group comprised the executive Directors, who take a direct and active role in the management of the Group's affairs.

Save as disclosed above, each of the senior management (i) did not hold other positions in the Company or other members of the Group; and (ii) had no other relationship with any Directors, senior management members or substantial or controlling shareholders.

^{*} For identification purpose only

Independent Auditor's Report



Tel: +852 2218 8288 Fax: +852 2815 2239 www.bdo.com.hk 25th Floor Wing On Centre 111 Connaught Road Central Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF PROSPER CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Prosper Construction Holdings Limited (the "Company") and its subsidiaries (together the "Group") set out on pages 43 to 135, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's "Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants" (the "Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Accounting for construction contracts - estimated costs and profit recognition

Refer to notes 4(a), 5, 6 and 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, segment results from marine construction works and general construction contracting services amounted to a loss of HK\$53,685,000 and a profit of HK\$30,366,000, respectively.

The Group applied the input method in recognising the revenue from construction contracts over time by reference to the Group's inputs to the satisfaction on a performance obligation relative to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of the performance obligation.

Recognition of profit on construction contracts is based on the recognised revenue and estimates of budgeted gross profit as well as the expected recovery of costs arising from additional work performed throughout the contracts, for which significant management judgement and estimates are involved.

Profit and cost recognition from construction contracts, as stated above, requires significant time and resources to audit due to the magnitude as well as the significant judgement and estimates involved.

Our response:

Our procedures in relation to management's accounting for construction contracts – estimated costs and profit recognition included:

- (i) Inspected material construction contracts of the Group for agreed contract amount and variations, if any;
- (ii) Checked the Group's efforts to the satisfaction on the Group's performance obligation by reference to the proportion of contract costs incurred for work performed to date to the estimated total construction costs of the selected contracts. We tested, on a sample basis, the revenue recognition based on the Group's inputs and the calculations of gross profit;
- (iii) Selected, on a sample basis, contracts to examine management's budget of the cost components, such as costs of materials, sub-contracting fees and labour costs. We compared the budgeted component cost to supporting documents including but not limited to invoices, price quotation and rate of labour costs. For each selected contract, we also compared cost component of the actual cost incurred up to year-end to the budgeted cost and obtained explanation from management for any material variation;

- (iv) Understood the status of projects with the Group's quantity surveyors and project managers, to identify any variations of contracts and claims, and to obtain explanations for fluctuations in margins and changes in budget as well as the expected recovery of variations. Where necessary, we obtained written opinion from the Group's external legal adviser and discussed with the adviser the basis in concluding the minimum amount which would be recovered from the project. We checked relevant evidence including agreements, correspondence with customers, for corroboration of their explanations; and
- (v) Assessed the adequacy of the disclosures related to revenue recognition in the context of the applicable financial reporting framework.

Impairment assessment of trade, retention and notes receivables and amounts due from fellow subsidiaries and contract assets

Refer to notes 3.1(b), 4(b), 22 and 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had gross amounts of trade, retention and notes receivables, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries and contract assets of approximately HK\$1,385,304,000, HK\$1,205,323,000 and HK\$1,784,122,000, respectively and provision for impairment of approximately HK\$121,009,000, HK\$1,203,000 and HK\$74,290,000, respectively.

Management performed periodic assessment on the recoverability of the trade, retention and notes receivables and amounts due from fellow subsidiaries and contract assets and the sufficiency of provision for impairment based on information including credit profile of customers, ageing of the trade, retention and notes receivables, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries and contract assets, historical settlement records, subsequent settlement status, expected timing and amount of realisation of outstanding balances, and on-going business relationships with the relevant customers.

Expected credit losses are also estimated by grouping the trade, retention and notes receivables, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries and contract assets based on shared credit risk characteristics and collectively assessed for likelihood of recovery, taking into account the nature of the customer, its geographic location and ageing category, and applying expected credit loss rates to the respective gross carrying amounts of the receivables.

Management also considered forward-looking information that may impact the customers' ability to repay the outstanding balances in order to estimate the expected credit losses for the impairment assessment.

We focused on this area due to the fact that the impairment assessment of trade, retention and notes receivables, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries and contract assets under the expected credit losses model involved the use of significant management judgement and estimates.

Our response:

Our audit procedures in relation to management's impairment assessment of trade, retention and notes receivables, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries and contract assets included:

- (i) Understood and evaluated the design and operating effectiveness of the credit control and impairment assessment process and assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent risk factors such as complexity and subjectivity;
- (ii) Evaluated the outcome of prior period assessment of impairment to assess the effectiveness of management's estimation process by comparing the actual loss incurred with the impairment provision made by management, if any;
- (iii) Tested, on a sample basis, the accuracy of ageing profile on trade, retention and notes receivables and amounts due from fellow subsidiaries by checking to the underlying invoices;
- (iv) Challenged management for the status of each of the material trade, retention and notes receivables, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries and contract assets past due as at year end and corroborated explanations from management with supporting evidence, such as performing public searches of credit profile of selected customers, understanding on-going business relationship with the customers based on trade records, checking historical and subsequent settlement records and other correspondence with the customers;
- (v) Assessed the appropriateness of the expected credit loss provision methodology, examined the key inputs on a sample basis to assess their accuracy and completeness, and challenged the assumptions, including both historical and forward-looking information, used to determine the expected credit losses with the involvement of internal valuation expert;
- (vi) For projects with potential dispute with customers, we discussed with the Group's external legal adviser. We enquired their work performed and discussed with them the basis in concluding the minimum amount the Group is able to realise from the projects. We tested and checked relevant evidence including agreements and correspondence with customers;
- (vii) Involving an auditor's expert to assist our assessment on the appropriateness of methodology in determining the historical loss rates; and
- (viii) Assessed the adequacy of the disclosures related to the impairment in the context of the applicable financial reporting framework.

Impairment assessment of goodwill

Refer to notes 4(c) and 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

The carrying amount of goodwill of the Group as of 31 December 2024 amounted to HK\$37,586,000, of which HK\$14,691,000 and HK\$22,895,000 were allocated to Qingdao Dongjie Construction Engineering Co., Ltd. and Qingdao Honghai Green Energy Co., Ltd. respectively. Management considers that each of these operating segments constitutes a separate cash-generating unit ("CGU") for the purpose of goodwill impairment assessment. No impairment of goodwill on these two CGUs has been recognised as of 31 December 2024.

The assessment of goodwill impairment is determined based on value-in-use calculations, and it is inherently judgmental as it requires significant management judgements about future business performance and the discount rates applied to future cash flow forecasts, and accordingly, this is an area of audit focus. Management engaged an independent external valuer to assist them to perform the value-in-use calculations using appropriate valuation methodologies.

Our response:

Our procedures on auditing management's impairment assessment of goodwill included:

- (i) Understood and evaluated the design and operating effectiveness of the internal controls and assessment process of goodwill impairment and assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent risk factors such as complexity, subjectively, changes and susceptibility to management bias or fraud;
- (ii) Evaluated the independent external valuer's objectivity, capability and competency to perform the valuation;
- (iii) Evaluated the discounted cash flow forecasts underlying the impairment assessment and the process by which they were drawn up, including checking the accuracy of the underlying calculations and checking whether the forecasts were consistent with the latest approved budgets. We also assessed whether all relevant CGUs have been identified;
- (iv) Evaluated the key assumptions of the discounted cash flow forecasts by examining corroborating evidence including the terms and conditions of construction contracts already entered into, historical revenue growth rate and third party supplier quotations for construction cost estimation and evaluated the discount rates by assessing the cost of capital for the respective CGUs. We also evaluated the outcome of prior period assessment of goodwill impairment to assess the effectiveness of management's estimation process;
- (v) Engaged an auditor's expert to assist us to assess the appropriateness of the valuation methodology and the reasonableness of the inputs, assumptions and estimation used by management and the independent external valuer which underpin the value-in-use calculation; and
- (vi) Examined the results of management's sensitivity analysis around the key assumptions including revenue growth and discount rates to ascertain the extent of change in those assumptions that could result in impairment for individual CGUs.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all of the information included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.
- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
- Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
 of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group financial
 statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the work performed for the purpose of
 the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 were audited by another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 28 March 2024.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants Lui Chi Kin Practising Certificate Number: P06162

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

For the year ended 31 December 2024

	Notes	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
	_		
Revenue	6	1,631,308	2,125,871
Cost of sales	8	(1,501,180)	(1,944,774)
Gross profit		130,128	181,097
Other gains, net	7	11,422	1,489
Provision for impairment losses on financial assets		(61,298)	(86,775)
Research and development expenses	8	(21,089)	(22,556)
Other administrative expenses	8	(129,601)	(173,654)
Operating loss		(70,438)	(100,399)
Finance income	9	2,332	3,751
Finance costs	9	(85,210)	(71,465)
Finance costs, net	9	(82,878)	(67,714)
Share of results of an associate		(65)	
Loss before income tax		(153,381)	(168,113)
Income tax credit/(expenses)	10	2,670	(13,522)
Loss for the year		(150,711)	(181,635)
(Loss)/profit attributable to: Equity holders of the Company Non-controlling interests		(159,101) 8,390	(188,898) 7,263
		(150,711)	(181,635)
Loss per share for loss attributable to the equity holders			
of the Company: Basic and diluted loss per share (HK cents)	12	(19.89)	(23.61)

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 December 2024

	2024	2023
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Loss for the year	(150,711)	(181,635)
	, , ,	, , ,
Other comprehensive income		
Item that will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss		
Currency translation differences	-	5,156
Item that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss		
	(45.060)	(2.021)
Currency translation differences	(15,863)	(3,831)
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax	(15,863)	1,325
Total comprehensive income for the year	(166,574)	(180,310)
Total comprehensive income attributable to:		
Equity holders of the Company	(170,041)	(192,729)
Non-controlling interests	3,467	12,419
	(166,574)	(180,310)
	(100,014)	(100,010)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at 31 December 2024

		2024	2023
	Notes	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
ASSETS			
Non-current assets			
Property, plant and equipment	15	292,356	322,114
Investment properties	16	11,822	13,654
Right-of-use assets	17	56,946	64,457
Goodwill	18	37,586	39,010
Intangible assets	19	12,135	15,363
Deposits and prepayments	23	18,590	25,918
Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss	3.3(i)	1,948	1,246
Interest in an associate	20	1,000	_
Deferred income tax assets	28	16,220	_
		448,603	481,762
Command accords			
Current assets	21	40.600	01.004
Inventories	22	18,633	21,004
Trade, retention and notes receivables Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries		1,264,295	1,188,649
	22, 37(c)	1,204,120	1,173,138
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables	23	319,953	229,071
Contract assets	24	1,709,832	1,736,586
Time deposits with maturity over 3 months	26	2,114	8,384
Pledged bank deposits	26	116,204	31,053
Restricted cash	26	67,208	21,007
Cash and cash equivalents	26	129,406	144,950
		4,831,765	4,553,842
Total assets		5,280,368	5,035,604
EQUITY			
Capital and reserves			
Share capital	27(a)	8,000	8,000
Reserves	27(b)	137,022	307,063
. 15501.750	21(0)	131,022	307,000
		145,022	315,063
Non-controlling interests		160,834	165,412
Total equity		305,856	480,475

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (continued)

As at 31 December 2024

		2024	2023
	Notes	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
LIABILITIES			
Non-current liabilities			
Borrowings	30	350,098	78,423
Loans from an intermediate holding company	37(c)	-	130,000
Lease liabilities	17	391	1,503
Deferred income tax liabilities	28	11,013	1,898
		361,502	211,824
			211,021
Current liabilities			
Trade, retention and notes payables	29	2,620,382	2,366,505
Accruals and other payables	29	260,646	313,805
Contract liabilities	24	43,621	5,439
Amount due to ultimate holding company	37(c)	34,849	4,830
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries	37(c)	80,473	69,909
Amounts due to related companies	37(c)	13,882	386
Loans from an intermediate holding company	37(c)	144,899	15,852
Amounts due to non-controlling interests	35	4,904	11,045
Borrowings	30	1,361,127	1,534,260
Corporate bonds	31	29,835	_
Lease liabilities	17	1,977	2,345
Income tax payable		16,415	18,929
		4,613,010	4,343,305
Total liabilities		4,974,512	4,555,129
Total equity and liabilities		5,280,368	5,035,604

The consolidated financial statements on pages [43] to [135] were approved by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2025 and were signed on its behalf by:

Jiang Hongchang

Zhou Hongbao Director

Director

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Attributable to	equity hold	ders of tl	he Com	pany
-----------------	-------------	------------	--------	------

	Share capital HK\$'000 (note 27(a))	Share premium HK\$'000 (note 27(b))	Other reserves HK\$'000 (note 27(b))	Exchange reserves HK\$'000 (note 27(b))	Statutory reserve HK\$'000 (note 27(b))	Retained earnings HK\$'000 (note 27(b))	Sub-total HK\$'000	Non- controlling interests HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
At 1 January 2023	8,000	214,840	23,506	(17,399)	8,387	270,458	507,792	116,525	624,317
(Loss)/profit for the year Other comprehensive	-	-	-	-	-	(188,898)	(188,898)	7,263	(181,635)
income: Exchange differences	_	_	_	(3,831)	_	-	(3,831)	5,156	1,325
Total comprehensive income	-	-	-	(3,831)	-	(188,898)	(192,729)	12,419	(180,310)
Transaction with owners Acquisition of a subsidiary Appropriation to statutory reserves	-	-	-	- -	- 448	_ (448)	-	4,730	4,730
Capital injection from non-controlling interests	-	-	_	_	-	-	-	31,738	31,738
Total transactions with owners in their capacity as owners					448	(448)	_	36,468	36,468
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024	8,000	214,840	23,506	(21,230)	8,835	81,112	315,063	165,412	480,475
(Loss)/profit for the year Other comprehensive income:	-	-	-	-	-	(159,101)	(159,101)	8,390	(150,711)
Exchange differences	-	-	-	(10,940)	-	-	(10,940)	(4,923)	(15,863)
Total comprehensive Income	-	-	-	(10,940)	-	(159,101)	(170,041)	3,467	(166,574)
Transaction with owners Dividend to non-controlling interests	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	(8,045)	(8,045)
At 31 December 2024	8,000	214,840	23,506	(32,170)	8,835	(77,989)	145,022	160,834	305,856

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 December 2024

		2024	2023
	Notes	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Cash flows from operating activities			
Net cash generated from/(used in) operations	34(a)	26,502	(795,314)
Interest received	0 1(d)	2,332	3,751
Interest paid		(74,995)	(71,244)
Income tax paid		(6,953)	(19,890)
Net cash used in operating activities		(53,114)	(882,697)
Cash flows from investing activities			
Payments of property, plant and equipment		(3,730)	(60,161)
Payments of intangible assets		(294)	(270)
Acquisition of a subsidiary		-	(5,455)
Capital injection in an associate		(1,064)	_
Proceeds from disposal of right-of-use assets		2,266	_
Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment	34(b)	974	40,651
Decrease/(increase) in time deposits with maturity over 3 months		6,270	(8,180)
(Increase)/decrease in pledged bank deposits		(88,261)	205,925
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities		(83,839)	172,510
Cash flows from financing activities			
Proceeds from borrowings	34(c)	2,064,122	1,053,784
Repayments of borrowings	34(c)	(1,959,323)	(512,269)
Principal elements of lease payments	34(c)	(2,582)	(2,431)
Repayment to non-controlling interests	34(c)	(13,963)	(34,998)
Proceed from issuance of corporate bonds	34(c)	29,835	_
Capital injection from non-controlling interests		-	31,738
Net cash generated from financing activities		118,089	535,824
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents		(18,864)	(174,363)
		144,950	324,459
		,	,
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year Effect of foreign exchange rate changes		3,320	(5,146)

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Prosper Construction Holdings Limited (the "Company") was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 6 October 2015 as an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address of the Company's registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong is located at Room 03-08, 24/F, Shui On Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road, Wan Chai.

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries (together, the "Group") provide marine construction services, auxiliary marine related services and general construction contracting services. The Company's shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange").

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars ("HK\$") unless otherwise stated.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ADOPTION OF HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

2.1 Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountant ("HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for certain financial assets which are measured at fair value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in compliance with adopted HKFRS Accounting Standards requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires Group management to exercise judgement in applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas where significant judgements and estimates have been made in preparing the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 4.

2.2 Going concern basis

The Group incurred a loss of HK\$150,711,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024. In addition, as at 31 December 2024, the Group has not complied with certain financial covenant requirements of bank borrowings with outstanding principal amounting to HK\$129,500,000. The non-compliance of financial covenants also triggered cross-defaults of certain other bank borrowings of the Group amounting to HK\$299,041,000 as at 31 December 2024. As a result, bank borrowings totalling HK\$428,541,000 as at 31 December 2024 have become repayable upon request by the banks and classified as current liabilities.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ADOPTION OF HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

2.2 Going concern basis (Continued)

In view of such circumstances, when assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern for the purpose of the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company have taken due and careful considerations on the Group's future liquidity and financial performance, and also available sources of financing in assessing whether the Group will have sufficient financial resources to continue as a going concern. The directors of the Company opined that, taking into account of the relevant banks have granted waivers to the Group in respect of the unsatisfied financial covenants before the date of authorisation of the consolidated financial statements, the Group will have sufficient working capital to finance its operations and to meet its financial obligations that will be due within next twelve months from the approval date of the financial statements. Accordingly, the directors consider that it is appropriate to prepare the Group's consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue to operate the business as a going concern, adjustments would have to be made to write down the carrying values of the Group's assets to their net realisable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effect of these adjustments has not been reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

2.3 Adoption of new and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time the following new and amendments to standards issued by the HKICPA, which are effective for the Group's financial statements for the annual period beginning on 1 January 2024.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to HKAS – 1 Non-current liabilities with covenants and amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 – Supplier finance arrangements have been firstly adopted in these consolidated financial statements. The relevant disclosures have been set out in note 30 (g) and note 37(c)(iv) to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

Except for the abovementioned, the amendments listed above did not have any impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods and are not expected to significantly affect the current or future periods.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ADOPTION OF HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

2.4 New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective

The following new and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards have been issued, but are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group. The Group's current intention is to apply these changes on the date they become effective.

Amendments to HKAS 21

Lack of Exchangeability¹

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial

Instruments²

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7

Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity²

HKFRS 18 HKFRS 19 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements³ Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosure³

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture⁴

- Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
- ² Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
- Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027
- ⁴ Effective date to be determined by the HKICPA

The Group will apply the above new standards, revised framework and amendments to standards when they become effective. These new standards, revised framework and amendments to standards are not expected to have a material impact on the entity in the current or future reporting periods.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risk: market risk (including foreign exchange risk and cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of the financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance.

Risk management is carried out under policies approved by the directors of the Group. The directors provide principles for an overall risk management, as well as policies covering specific areas.

(a) Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities which are denominated in a currency that is not the entity's functional currency.

The Group's transactions are mainly denominated in HK\$, United State dollars ("US\$"), Indonesia Rupiah ("IDR"), Renminbi ("RMB"), Vietnamese Dongs ("VND") and Macao Patacas ("MOP"). The majority of assets and liabilities are denominated in HK\$, US\$, IDR, RMB and MOP, and there are no significant assets and liabilities denominated in other currencies. The Group is subject to foreign exchange rate risk arising from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities which are denominated in a currency other than HK\$, IDR, RMB or MOP, which are the functional currencies of the major operating companies within the Group. The Group currently does not hedge its foreign currency exposure.

As HK\$ is pegged to US\$, management believes that the exchange rate risk for translations between HK\$ and US\$ do not have material impact to the Group. Management considered that the foreign exchange risk for MOP and VND are minimal since exchange rate fluctuation were minimal.

At 31 December 2024, if RMB had weakened/strengthened by 5% against the HK\$ with all other variables held constant, pre-tax loss for the year would have been approximately HK\$1,053,000 lower/higher (2023: HK\$852,000), mainly as a result of the foreign exchange difference on translation of RMB denominated cash and cash equivalents, trade, retention and notes receivables and amounts due from fellow subsidiaries and trade, retention and notes payables.

At 31 December 2024, if IDR had weakened/strengthened by 5% against the HK\$ with all other variables held constant, pre-tax loss for the year would have been approximately HK\$3,885,000 higher/lower (2023: HK\$4,245,000), mainly as a result of the foreign exchange difference on translation of IDR denominated cash and cash equivalents, trade and retention receivables and trade and retention payables.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(ii) Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as borrowings are carried at variable rates. It is the Group's policy to maintain its borrowings subject to floating rates, and accordingly, the Group has not used any interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk.

As at 31 December 2024, if the interest rates on borrowings had been 100 basis-points higher/lower with all other variables held constant, pre-tax loss for the year would be HK\$5,480,000 higher/lower (2023: HK\$4,453,000), mainly as a result of interest expense on floating rate borrowings.

(b) Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its cash and bank balances, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, trade, retention and notes receivables, deposits and other receivables. The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying amounts of these financial assets.

(i) Risk management

For the year ended 31 December 2024, 23.1% (2023: 33.2%) of the Group's revenue was derived from its top five customers. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had concentration of credit risk as 23.19% (2023: 39.7%) of the total trade receivables were due from the Group's top five (2023: five) customers.

Top five customers mainly include state-owned enterprises and other construction companies. To manage this risk, management has monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, management reviews regularly the recoverable amount of each individual trade and retention receivable and amounts due from fellow subsidiaries to ensure that adequate impairment provision is made for the irrecoverable amounts.

The credit risk on deposits with bank is limited because deposits are in banks with sound credit ratings and good payment history.

For other receivables, the Group assessed the credit quality of the counter parties by taking into account their financial position, credit history and other factors. Management also regularly reviews the recoverability of these receivables and follow up the disputes or amounts overdue, if any. The directors are of the opinion that the risk of default by counter parties is low.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Risk management (Continued)

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period. To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and supportive forward-looking information. Especially the following indicators are incorporated:

- internal credit rating
- external credit rating
- actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions
 that are expected to cause a significant change to the counterparty's ability to meet its
 obligations
- significant changes in actual or expected performance and behaviour of the customer, including changes in the payment status of customer in the Group and changes in the operating results of the customer.

The Group uses four categories for those receivables which reflect their credit risk and how the loss provision is determined for each of those categories. These internal credit risk ratings are aligned to external credit ratings.

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the following categories:

Category	Description	Basis for recognition of expected credit loss
Performing	The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have any past-due amounts	12-month expected losses. Where the expected lifetime of an asset is less than 12 months, expected losses are measured at its expected lifetime
Underperforming	Debtor frequently repays after due dates but usually settle after due date	Lifetime expected losses
Non-performing	There has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition through information developed internally or external resources	Lifetime expected losses
Write-off	There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery	Asset is written off

For the year ended 31 December 2024

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

- (b) Credit risk (Continued)
 - (ii) Impairment of financial assets

Trade, retention and notes receivables and contract assets

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime loss allowance for all trade, retention and notes receivables and contract assets.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade, retention and notes receivables and contract assets have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics by different sectors of the customers in different territories. The contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress and have substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade and retention receivables for the same types of contracts. The Group has therefore concluded that the expected loss rates for trade and retention receivables are a reasonable approximation of the loss rates for the contract assets.

The expected loss rates are based on various factors including the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions, the number of days past due, adjusted for forward-looking factors and specific consideration to the debtors and the economic environment. Accordingly, historical loss rates are adjusted based on expected changes in these factors.

For trade, retention and notes receivables and contract assets relating to accounts in which there are objective evidence that the likelihood of settlement from counterparties are remote, they are assessed individually for impairment allowance. Accordingly specific loss allowance of HK\$81,256,000 and HK\$44,625,000 (2023: HK\$70,348,000 and HK\$10,355,000) was made as at 31 December 2024 for trade, retention and notes receivables and contract assets respectively.

As at 31 December 2024, the expected credit losses of these collectively assessed trade, retention and notes receivables and contract assets were HK\$39,753,000 and HK\$29,665,000 respectively (2023: HK\$34,609,000 and HK\$31,272,000 respectively) based on expected loss rates ranging from 0.07% - 36.96% (2023: 0.09% - 23.15%) applied on different customer sectors.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(ii) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Trade, retention and notes receivables and contract assets (Continued)

The loss allowances for trade, retention and notes receivables and contract assets as at 31 December 2024 reconcile to the opening loss allowance as follows:

		Non	
	State-owned	state-owned	
Trade, retention and notes receivables	enterprise	enterprise	Total
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
At 1 January 2023	3,175	35,476	38,651
Increase in loss allowance recognised in	2,	22,	
profit or loss during the year	276	69,954	70,230
Reversal of loss allowance	(973)	(5,117)	(6,090)
Exchange difference	(77)	2,243	2,166
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 Increase in loss allowance recognised in	2,401	102,556	104,957
profit or loss during the year	12,810	33,745	46,555
Reversal of loss allowance	(407)	(21,509)	(21,916)
Exchange difference	(4,069)	(4,518)	(8,587)
A4 04 Danamban 0004	40.705	440.074	404 000
At 31 December 2024	10,735	110,274	121,009
		Non	
	State-owned	state-owned	
Contract assets	State-owned enterprise	state-owned enterprise	Total
Contract assets			Total HK\$'000
	enterprise HK\$'000	enterprise HK\$'000	HK\$'000
At 1 January 2023	enterprise	enterprise	
At 1 January 2023 Increase in loss allowance recognised	enterprise HK\$'000	enterprise HK\$'000 7,305	HK\$'000 20,949
At 1 January 2023 Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during the year	enterprise HK\$'000 13,644	enterprise HK\$'000 7,305 31,308	20,949 31,308
At 1 January 2023 Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during the year Reversal of loss allowance	enterprise HK\$'000 13,644 - (11,468)	enterprise HK\$'000 7,305 31,308 (135)	20,949 31,308 (11,603)
At 1 January 2023 Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during the year	enterprise HK\$'000 13,644	enterprise HK\$'000 7,305 31,308	20,949 31,308
At 1 January 2023 Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during the year Reversal of loss allowance Exchange difference	enterprise HK\$'000 13,644 - (11,468) 1,584	enterprise HK\$'000 7,305 31,308 (135) (611)	20,949 31,308 (11,603) 973
At 1 January 2023 Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during the year Reversal of loss allowance	enterprise HK\$'000 13,644 - (11,468)	enterprise HK\$'000 7,305 31,308 (135)	20,949 31,308 (11,603)
At 1 January 2023 Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during the year Reversal of loss allowance Exchange difference At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024	enterprise HK\$'000 13,644 - (11,468) 1,584	enterprise HK\$'000 7,305 31,308 (135) (611)	20,949 31,308 (11,603) 973
At 1 January 2023 Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during the year Reversal of loss allowance Exchange difference At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 Increase in loss allowance recognised	enterprise HK\$'000 13,644 - (11,468) 1,584	enterprise HK\$'000 7,305 31,308 (135) (611) 37,867	20,949 31,308 (11,603) 973 41,627
At 1 January 2023 Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during the year Reversal of loss allowance Exchange difference At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during the year	enterprise HK\$'000 13,644 - (11,468) 1,584 3,760 5,284	enterprise HK\$'000 7,305 31,308 (135) (611) 37,867 43,184	20,949 31,308 (11,603) 973 41,627 48,468
At 1 January 2023 Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during the year Reversal of loss allowance Exchange difference At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during the year Reversal of loss allowance Exchange difference	enterprise HK\$'000 13,644 - (11,468) 1,584 3,760 5,284 (2,433) (1,359)	enterprise HK\$'000 7,305 31,308 (135) (611) 37,867 43,184 (12,614) 601	20,949 31,308 (11,603) 973 41,627 48,468 (15,047) (758)
At 1 January 2023 Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during the year Reversal of loss allowance Exchange difference At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during the year Reversal of loss allowance	enterprise HK\$'000 13,644 - (11,468) 1,584 3,760 5,284 (2,433)	enterprise HK\$'000 7,305 31,308 (135) (611) 37,867 43,184 (12,614)	20,949 31,308 (11,603) 973 41,627 48,468 (15,047)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(ii) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Trade, retention and notes receivables and contract assets (Continued)

Trade, retention and notes receivables and contract assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group.

Impairment losses on trade, retention and notes receivables and contract assets are presented as net impairment losses within operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the same line item.

Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime loss allowance for all amounts due from fellow subsidiaries which have been arise from the revenue from general construction services with its fellow subsidiaries.

To measure the expected credit losses, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics by different sectors of the customers in different territories.

As at 31 December 2024, the expected credit losses of these collectively assessed amounts due from fellow subsidiaries were HK\$1,203,000 (2023: HK\$4,978,000) based on expected loss rate at 0.07% – 24.51% (2023: 0.09%) applied on different customer sectors.

The loss allowances for amounts due from fellow subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024 reconcile to the opening loss allowance as follows:

	enterprise HK\$'000
	HK\$'000
At 1 January 2023	743
Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during the year	4,290
Reversal of loss allowance	(36)
Exchange difference	(19)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024	4,978
Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during the year	17
Reversal of loss allowance	(3,683)
Exchange difference	(109)
At 31 December 2024	1,203

State-owned

For the year ended 31 December 2024

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(ii) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries (Continued)

Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group.

Impairment losses on amounts due from fellow subsidiaries are presented as net impairment losses within operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the same line item.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

For other financial assets at amortised cost, including deposits and other receivables, the expected credit loss is based on the 12 months expected losses. It is the portion of lifetime expected credit loss that results from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. However, when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the allowance will be based on the lifetime expected credit loss.

For deposit and other receivables relating to accounts in which there are objective evidence that the likelihood of settlement from counterparties are remote, they are assessed individually for impairment allowance. Accordingly specific loss allowance of HK\$13,825,000 (2023: HK\$4,311,000) was made as at 31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, the expected credit losses of these collectively assessed deposits and other receivables were HK\$2,172,000 (2023: HK\$582,000) based on expected loss rates approximately to 0.34% – 5.21% (2023: 0.24% – 2.13%) applied on counterparties' sectors.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group provides for credit losses against other financial assets at amortised cost as follows:

The Group's internal credit rating	Basis for recognition of expected credit loss provision	Estimated gross carrying amount at default HK\$'000	Carrying amount (net of impairment provision)
31 December 2024 Performing	12 months expected loss	186,920	170,923
31 December 2023 Performing	12 months expected loss	235,131	230,238

For the year ended 31 December 2024

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(ii) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other financial assets at amortised cost (Continued)

The loss allowances for other financial assets at amortised cost as at 31 December 2024 reconcile to the opening loss allowances as follows:

		Non	
	State-owned	state-owned	
	enterprise	enterprise	Total
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
At 1 January 2023	607	5,668	6,275
Increase in loss allowance recognised	007	0,000	0,210
in profit or loss during the year	865	86	951
Unused amount reversed	(47)	(2,228)	(2,275)
Exchange difference	(13)	(45)	(58)
At 31 December 2023 and			
1 January 2024	1,412	3,481	4,893
Increase in loss allowance recognised			
in profit or loss during the year	45	8,784	8,829
Unused amount reversed	(397)	(1,528)	(1,925)
Exchange difference	(828)	5,028	4,200
At 31 December 2024	232	15,765	15,997

Cash and cash equivalents

There is no loss allowance for cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2024 (2023: same).

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk refers to the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial assets.

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and bank balances. The Group's liquidity risk is further mitigated through the availability of financing through its own cash resources and the availability of banking facilities to meet its financial commitments. In the opinion of the directors, the Group does not have any significant liquidity risk.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The table below analyses the Group's financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the consolidated statement of financial position date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interests payments computed using contractual rates, or if floating, based on the current rates at the year-end dates during the year). Where the loan agreement contains a repayable on demand clause which gives the lender the unconditional right to call the loan at any time, the amounts repayable are classified in the earliest time bracket in which the lender could demand repayment. The maturity analysis for other borrowings is prepared based on the scheduled repayment dates. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances, as the impact of discounting is not significant.

	On demand	Between	Between		
	and less	1 and	2 and	Over	
	than 1 year	2 years	5 years	5 years	Total
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
As at 31 December 2024					
Trade, retention and notes payables	2,620,382	-	-	-	2,620,382
Accruals and other payables	260,646	-	-	-	260,646
Lease liabilities	2,045	401	-	-	2,446
Borrowings and interest payables	1,419,277	268,227	110,877	-	1,798,381
Corporate bonds	31,926	-	-	-	31,926
Loans from an intermediate holding company	153,158	-	-	-	153,158
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries	80,473	-	-	-	80,473
Amounts due to non-controlling interests	4,904	-	-	-	4,904
Amounts due to related companies	13,882	-	-	-	13,882
Amount due to ultimate holding company	34,849	-	-	-	34,849
As at 31 December 2023					
Trade, retention and notes payables	2,366,505	_	_	_	2,366,505
Accruals and other payables	287,013	_	_	_	287,013
Lease liabilities	2,463	1,533	_	_	3,996
Borrowings and interest payables	1,565,532	4,126	11,528	125,496	1,706,682
Loans from an intermediate holding company	23,145	136,500	_	_	159,645
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries	69,909	_	_	_	69,909
Amounts due to non-controlling interests	11,045	_	_	_	11,045
Amount due to a related company	386	-	_	_	386
Amount due to ultimate holding company	4,830	_	_	_	4,830

For the year ended 31 December 2024

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to balance it overall capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity and borrowings. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce borrowings. The Group monitors capital on the basis of debt-to-equity ratio. The debt-to-equity ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total equity. Net debt is calculated as borrowings and loans from an intermediate holding company less cash and cash equivalents, time deposits, restricted cash and pledged bank deposits. The debt-to-equity ratios as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

	2024	2023
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Borrowings (note 30)	1,711,225	1,612,683
Corporate bonds (note 31)	29,835	_
Loans from an intermediate holding company (note 37(c))	144,899	145,852
Less: cash and cash equivalents, time deposits		
with maturity over 3 months, restricted cash and		
pledged bank deposits (note 26)	(314,932)	(205,394)
Net debt	1,571,027	1,553,141
Total equity	305,856	480,475
Debt to equity ratio	513.6%	323.3%

3.3 Fair value estimation

(i) Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value

For the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group recognised a financial asset regarding the contingent consideration ("Contingent Consideration") upon the acquisition of Qingdao Bei Fang Construction Design and Research Company Limited. The fair value measurement of the Contingent Consideration is categorised into level 3 in the fair value hierarchy based on the inputs to valuation techniques used. There were no transfer between Level 1, 2 and 3 during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

This section explains the judgments and estimates made in determining the fair value of the financial instrument that is recognised and measured at fair value in the financial statements. To provide an indication about the reliability of the inputs used in determining fair value, the Company has classified its financial instrument into the three levels prescribed under the accounting standards. An explanation follows underneath the table.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(i) Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value (Continued)

Description	Fair value HK\$'000	Valuation techniques	Ke	y inputs	Range of significant inputs	of	elationship inputs to r value
At 31 December 2024							
Contingent consideration	1,948 (2023: 1,246)	Scenario-based analysis	(i)	Discount rate	25% (2023: 27%)	(i)	A decrease/ increase in discount rate by 10% would increase/ decrease the fair value by HK\$69,000/ HK\$67,000 (2023: HK\$269,000/ HK\$206,000)
			(ii)	Estimated accumulated profit in 2023-2025	RMB0 - RMB7,130,000 (2023: RMB0 - RMB7,130,000)	(ii)	If the estimated accumulated profit increase/decrease 10%, the fair value would decrease/increase by HK\$19,000 (2023: HK\$125,000)

- Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and trading and available-for-sale securities) is based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Company are the current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1.
- Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques which maximise the use of observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.
- Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3. This is the case for unlisted equity securities gives rise to a significant unobservable adjustment.

(ii) Valuation processes

The Group engage an external valuation team to perform valuation on these level 3 instruments for financial reporting purposes. During the valuation processes, the Group management have discussed with the external valuation team about the key basis and assumptions to determine the valuation of level 3 financial assets.

As these instruments are not traded in an active market, their fair values have been determined by using various applicable valuation techniques, including scenario-based analysis.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost

The carrying amount of the Group's financial assets and liabilities, including cash and cash equivalents, time deposits, restricted cash, pledged bank deposits, trade, retention and notes receivables, deposits and other receivables, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, trade, retention and notes payables, accruals and other payables, loans from an intermediate holding company, amount due to a related company, amounts due to non-controlling interests, amount due to fellow subsidiaries, amounts due to ultimate holding company, borrowings, corporate bonds and lease liabilities approximate their fair values, which either due to their short-term maturities, or that they are subject to floating rates or market interest rates.

3.5 Financial instruments by category

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Financial assets at amortised cost		
Trade, retention and notes receivables, deposits and other receivables	1,435,218	1,395,301
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries	1,204,120	1,173,138
Time deposits with maturity over 3 months	2,114	8,384
Pledged bank deposits	116,204	31,053
Restricted cash	67,208	21,007
Cash and cash equivalents	129,406	144,950
Total	2,954,270	2,773,833
Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss		
Contingent consideration	1,948	1,246
Financial liabilities at amortised cost	0.000 705	0.050.540
Trade, retention and notes payables, accruals and other payables	2,880,735	2,653,518
Loans from an intermediate holding company	144,899	145,852
Amounts due to related companies	13,882	386
Amounts due to non-controlling interests	4,904	11,045
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries	80,473	69,909
Amount due to ultimate holding company	34,849	4,830
Borrowings	1,711,225	1,612,683
Corporate bonds	29,835	0.040
Lease liabilities	2,368	3,848
Total	4,903,170	4,502,071

For the year ended 31 December 2024

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are addressed below.

(a) Construction contracts

The Group reviews and revises the estimates of contract revenue, contract costs, variation orders and contract claims prepared for each construction contract as the contract progresses. Budgeted construction costs are prepared by the management on the basis of quotations from time to time provided by the major contractors, suppliers or vendors involved and the experience of the management. In order to keep the budget accurate and up-to-date, management conducts periodic reviews of the budgets of contracts by comparing the budgeted amounts to the actual amounts incurred. Such significant estimate may have impact on the profit recognised in each period.

In addition, significant judgement is required to assess the recoverability of contract costs incurred as a result of difference between the amount applied to and the amount certified by the main contractor.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligation is measured by reference to the proportion of contract cost incurred for work performed to date bear to the estimated total construction costs. Because of the nature of the activity undertaken in construction contracts, the date at which the contract activity is entered into and the date when the activity is completed usually fall into different accounting period. The Group reviews and revised the estimates of contract revenue, contract costs, variation orders and contract claims prepared for each construction contract as the contract progresses. Management regularly reviews the progress of the contracts and the corresponding costs of the contract.

(b) Impairment of trade, retention and notes receivables and amounts due from fellow subsidiaries and contract assets

The loss allowances for trade, retention and notes receivables and amounts due from fellow subsidiaries and contract assets are based on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the customers' past default history, existing market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in note 3.1(b).

For the year ended 31 December 2024

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(c) Impairment assessment of goodwill

The Group tests whether goodwill has suffered any impairment on an annual basis. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units ("CGUs") was determined based on value-in-use calculations which require the use of assumptions. The calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period.

Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rates stated in note 18. These growth rates are consistent with forecasts included in industry reports specific to the industry in which each CGU operates.

Details of assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated financial statement.

(d) Impairment assessment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses impairment at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the Group that may lead to impairment of non-financial assets. Where an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. The recoverable amount is determined based on value-in-use calculation or fair value less costs of disposal ("FVLCD"). The calculations of value-in-use require the use of judgement and estimates of the future cash flows expected to arise from the assets or CGUs, the timeframe for the cash flows forecast and the suitable discount rates in order to calculate the present value. In the process of estimating expected future cash flows, management makes assumptions about future revenues and profits. These assumptions relate to future events and circumstances. The actual results may vary and may cause a material adjustment to the carrying amount of non-financial assets within the next financial year. Determining the appropriate discount rate involves estimating the appropriate adjustment for market risk and for asset specific risk factors. Details of assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

(e) Classification of acquisition of 34% equity interest in Qingdao Honghai Green Energy Co., Ltd.

The classification of an investment as a subsidiary is based on whether the Group is determined to have control over the investee, which involves judgments through the analysis of various factors, including the Group's power on the chief decision-making authorities of an investee. As the Group is entitled to appoint a majority number of directors of Qingdao Honghai Curtain Wall Company Limited (currently known as Qingdao Honghai Green Energy Co., Ltd.) ("Qingdao Honghai") and is able to control its management and operation, the identifiable assets and liabilities of Qingdao Honghai is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements of the Group at their fair value under the acquisition method.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as the executive directors of the Company. The executive directors regard the Group's business as comprising three operating segments, marine construction works, provision of auxiliary marine related services and general construction contracting services. They review financial information accordingly.

Segment revenue is measured in a manner consistent with that in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Segment assets mainly consist of current assets and non-current assets as disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position except for cash and bank balances and other corporate assets.

Segment liabilities mainly consist of current liabilities and non-current liabilities as disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position except for income tax payable, deferred tax liabilities, borrowings, loans from an intermediate holding company and certain corporate liabilities.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(a) Revenue and results for the Group's reportable segments

		Provision of auxiliary	General	
	Marine	marine	construction	
	construction	related	contracting	
	works	services	services	Total
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
For the year ended				
31 December 2024				
0				
Segment revenue from external customers	55,427	4,205	1,571,676	1,631,308
Gustomers	33,721		1,571,070	1,001,000
Segment results	(53,685)	(21,451)	30,366	(44,770)
Unallocated expenses				(15,516)
Depreciation of investment properties				(1,345)
Depreciation of property, plant and				(4.700)
equipment Depreciation of right-of-use assets				(4,700) (4,172)
Finance costs, net				(82,878)
Loss before income tax				(153,381)
Income tax credit				2,670
Loss for the year				(150,711)
Included in segment results are:				
Depreciation of property, plant and				
equipment	(18,384)	(543)	(3,338)	(22,265)
Amortisation of intangible assets	_	_	(3,143)	(3,143)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(a) Revenue and results for the Group's reportable segments (Continued)

	Marine construction works HK\$'000	Provision of auxiliary marine related services HK\$'000	General construction contracting services HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
For the year ended 31 December 2023				
Segment revenue from external customers	104,533	69,528	1,951,810	2,125,871
Segment results	(62,383)	(34,251)	65,111	(31,523)
Unallocated expenses Depreciation of investment properties Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Depreciation of right-of-use assets Finance costs, net				(57,000) (1,316) (6,154) (4,406) (67,714)
Loss before income tax Income tax expenses			_	(168,113) (13,522)
Loss for the year			_	(181,635)
Included in segment results are:				
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Amortisation of intangible assets	(15,996) –	(3,243)	(3,040) (3,474)	(22,279) (3,474)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) Total assets for the Group's reportable segments

		Provision of		
		auxiliary	General	
	Marine	marine	construction	
	construction	related	contracting services	T-4-1
	works	services		Total
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
At 31 December 2024				
Segment assets	594,693	60,174	4,603,977	5,258,844
Unallocated assets				21,524
Total assets				5,280,368
			_	
Additions to non-current assets	2,639	_	1,385	4,024
At 31 December 2023				
Segment assets	640,124	57,477	3,927,401	4,625,002
Unallocated assets				410,602
Total assets				5 025 604
TOTAL ASSELS				5,035,604
Additions to non-current assets	20,383	35,419	4,629	60,431

The information provided to chief operating decision maker with respect to total assets are measured in a manner consistent with that of the consolidated financial statements. These assets are allocated based on the operations of the segment.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(c) Total liabilities for the Group's reportable segments

		Provision of	0	
	Marine construction works HK\$'000	auxiliary marine related services HK\$'000	General construction contracting services HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
At 31 December 2024				
Segment liabilities	118,466	5,075	2,912,316	3,035,857
Corporate bonds	110,100	0,010	2,012,010	29,835
Borrowings				1,711,225
Loans from an intermediate holding				
company				144,899
Unallocated liabilities				52,696
Total liabilities				4,974,512
At 31 December 2023				
Segment liabilities	71,135	41	2,390,783	2,461,959
Borrowings				1,612,683
Loans from an intermediate holding				
company				145,852
Income tax payable				18,929
Deferred tax liabilities				1,898
Unallocated liabilities				313,808
Total liabilities				4,555,129

For the year ended 31 December 2024

5. **SEGMENT INFORMATION** (Continued)

(d) Geographical information

(i) Revenue from external customers

The Group's revenue from external customers attributable to the countries from which the Group derives revenue based on marine construction works, general construction contracting services and provision of auxiliary marine related services.

	Year ended 31 December		
	2024	2023	
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	
Hong Kong	54,120	161,828	
Mainland China	1,571,677	1,951,810	
Indonesia	3,981	9,045	
Macao	1,530	3,188	
	1,631,308	2,125,871	

(ii) Non-current assets

The Group's information about its non-current assets including property, plant and equipment and investment properties located in the country of domicile are detailed below:

Based on countries of domicile of companies holding the assets:

	As at 31 December		
	2024	2023	
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	
Hong Kong	185,447	200,069	
Mainland China	107,742	122,730	
Indonesia	6,466	7,399	
Macao	4,523	5,570	
	304,178	335,768	

71

For the year ended 31 December 2024

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(d) Geographical information (Continued)

(ii) Non-current assets (Continued)

Based on physical location of the assets:

	As at 31 December		
	2024	2023	
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	
Hong Kong	147,862	142,901	
Indonesia	6,466	7,399	
Macao	9,591	6,466	
Mainland China	118,249	143,505	
Pakistan	20,398	22,019	
The Philippines	1,612	13,478	
	304,178	335,768	

(e) Information about major customers

There is no revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023, which being a fellow subsidiary of the Company, is as follows:

	As at 31 December		
	2024 20		
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	
Qingdao West Coast New District Development Limited	N/A ^(a)	255,795	

⁽a) The corresponding customer did not contribute over 10% of the total revenue of the Group for the specific year.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

6. REVENUE

Accounting policy

(a) Provision of marine construction services and general construction services

Revenue from the marine construction services and general construction services is recognised over time as the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset or work in progress that the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced. The Group has applied the input method in recognising the revenue from construction contracts over time by reference to the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction on a performance obligation relative to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of the performance obligation. The Group considers the input method better depicts the Group's performance in transferring control of goods or services to their customers.

For contracts that contain variable consideration (variation order of construction work), the Group estimates the amount of consideration to which it will be entitled using the most likely amount.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included in the transaction price only to the extent that is highly probable that such an inclusion will not result in a significant revenue reversal in the future when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When there is change in circumstances, the Group updates the estimated transaction price (including updating its assessment of whether an estimate of variable consideration is constrained) to better predict the circumstances present at the end of the reporting period and the changes in circumstances during the year.

(b) Provision of auxiliary marine related services

The Group provides auxiliary marine related services. Revenue is recognised over time when the relevant services are rendered, and the Group's performance provide all of the benefits received and consumed simultaneously by the customers.

(c) Contract assets and contract liabilities

Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the Group obtains rights to receive consideration from the customer and assume performance obligations to transfer goods or services to the customer. The combination of those rights and performance obligations give rise to a net asset or net liability depending on the relationship between the remaining rights and the performance obligations. The contract is an asset and recognised as contract assets if the measure of the remaining conditional rights to consideration exceeds the satisfied performance obligations. Conversely, the contract is a liability and recognised as contract liabilities if consideration received (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer exceed the measure of the remaining unsatisfied performance obligations. In the consolidated statement of financial position, the contract assets mainly consist of unbilled revenue. Contract liabilities mainly consist of the Group's obligations to transfer the control of performance obligation to the customers for which the Group has received consideration from the customers.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

6. REVENUE (Continued)

(c) Contract assets and contract liabilities (Continued)

Revenue

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Rendering of services, recognised over time		
- Marine construction works	55,427	104,533
 Provision of auxiliary marine related services 	4,205	69,528
- Provision of general construction contracting services	1,571,676	1,951,810
	1,631,308	2,125,871

7. OTHER GAINS, NET

	2024	2023
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
(Loss)/gains on disposal of property, plant and equipment	(940)	973
Loss on disposal of right-of-use assets	(35)	_
Loss on disposal of intangible assets	-	(221)
Government grants (note)	233	1,361
Foreign exchange gains/(loss), net	11,393	(2,847)
Rental income from investment properties (note 16)	922	1,013
Export tax refund	-	85
Gain from sale of scrap materials	125	_
Loss on dissolution of a joint operation	(1,826)	_
Fair value gain on financial asset at fair value through profit or loss	762	1,125
Others	788	_
	11,422	1,489

Note: Government grants in 2024 and 2023 mainly related to grant from PRC government to support the Company's innovation development. There were no unfulfilled condition and other contingencies attached to the receipts of those subsidies.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

8. EXPENSES BY NATURE

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Cost of providing services		
Consultancy and design fee	15,562	8,097
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 15)	22,265	22,279
Insurance	3,497	3,348
Materials (note 21)	632,178	772,663
Subcontracting charges	650,058	885,364
Staff costs (note (a))	69,164	102,650
Lease expenses relating to short-term lease of		
machineries and equipment (note 17)	62,561	80,979
Repair and maintenances	1,820	4,211
Transportation	1,385	3,398
Site expenses	21,674	32,651
Customs duties	5,858	3,621
Others	15,158	25,513
	1,501,180	1,944,774
Other administrative expenses		
Staff costs, including directors' emoluments (note (a))	58,064	85,944
Auditors' remuneration		,
- Audit services	2,200	2,464
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 15)	4,700	6,154
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 17)	4,172	4,406
Depreciation of investment properties (note 16)	1,345	1,316
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 19)	3,143	3,474
Impairment of goodwill (note 18)	-	448
Impairment of intangible assets (note 19)	-	1,913
Leases expenses relating to short-term leases and		
leases of low-value assets (note 17)	4,663	11,100
Professional fee – others	16,023	19,444
Consumables expenses	56	35
Entertainment fee	1,254	1,680
Travelling expense	2,044	3,351
Bank charges	7,053	4,616
Others	24,884	27,309
	129,601	173,654
Research and development expenses (note (b))	21,089	22,556
Total cost of sales, research and development expenses and		
other administrative expenses	1,651,870	2,140,984
investe.		

For the year ended 31 December 2024

8. EXPENSES BY NATURE (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Wages and salaries	115,343	174,568
Pension costs – defined contribution plans	10,285	10,033
Other employment benefits	1,600	3,993
	127,228	188,594
Included in cost of sales	(69,164)	(102,650)
Included in administrative expenses	(58,064)	(85,944)

The Group participates in a Mandatory Provident Fund scheme (the "MPF Scheme") in accordance with the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance of Hong Kong. Under the rules of the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees in Hong Kong are each required to contribute 5% of the employees' gross earnings with a ceiling of HK\$1,500 per month.

The Group also participates in an employee social security plan (the "Social Security Plan") and contributes a fixed amount for each employee as required by the regulations in Macao.

The Group participates in an employee social security programme (the "Social Security Programme") in Indonesia, providing compensation in the event of working accidents, death, old age, and in case of sickness and hospitalisation. Under the Social Security Programme, the employer is required to contribute a fixed percentage of the employee's salaries every month.

The Group's subsidiaries in the People's Republic of China (the "PRC") participate in defined contribution retirement benefit plans organised by relevant government authorities for its employees in the PRC and contribute to these plans based on certain percentage of the salaries of the employees on a monthly basis, up to a maximum fixed monetary amount, as stipulated by the relevant government authorities. The government authorities undertake to assume the retirement benefit obligations payable to all existing and future retired employees under these plans. Contributions to these retirement benefits schemes are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss as incurred.

The only obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF Scheme, the Social Security Plan and the Social Security Programme is to make the required contributions under the scheme. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable in future year.

(b) During the year ended 31 December 2024, the amount of research and development expenses of HK\$21,089,000 (2023: HK\$22,556,000) represented the research and development of curtain wall engineering and construction technology.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

9. FINANCE COSTS, NET

Accounting policy

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. When a loan and receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash flow discounted at the original effective interest rate of the instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as interest income. Interest income on impaired loans and receivables is recognised using the original effective interest rate.

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Finance income		
- Interest income on bank balances	2,332	3,751
Finance costs		
- Interest expenses on loans from an immediate		
holding company (note 37(b))	(10,017)	(3,545)
- Interest expenses on bank loans	(75,056)	(67,699)
- Interest expenses on lease liabilities (note 17)	(137)	(221)
	(85,210)	(71,465)
Finance costs, net	(82,878)	(67,714)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

10. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSES

The amount of income tax (credited)/charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss represents:

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Hong Kong profits tax		
Current income tax	-	_
PRC Corporate income tax		
Current income tax	4,790	13,920
Indonesia income tax		
Withholding income tax	84	214
Macao complementary income tax		
Current income tax	-	_
Deferred income tax (note 28)	(7,544)	(612)
Income tax (credit)/expenses	(2,670)	13,522
income tax foreart/respenses	(2,070)	10,022

- (a) Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 8.25% on assessable profit up to HK\$2 million and 16.5% thereafter on the estimated assessable profit for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
- (b) Subsidiaries in the PRC are subject to corporate income tax ("CIT") in accordance with the PRC CIT Law. According to the PRC CIT Law and the relevant regulations, the CIT tax rate applicable is 25% except for subsidiaries which qualify as High-New Technology Enterprises which are subject to a tax rate of 15%.
- (c) Indonesia income tax is charged through a system of withholding taxes. Companies are required to withhold final income tax for income of construction works performed and interest income from bank deposits. For the year ended 31 December 2024, income tax has been provided at the rate of 3% (2023: 3%) of the construction revenue and 20% (2023: 20%) of the interest income from bank deposits.
- (d) Macao complementary income tax has been provided at the rate of 12% (2023: 12%) on the estimated assessable profit for the year.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

10. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSES (Continued)

The tax on the Group's loss before income tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the tax rate of Hong Kong as follows:

	2024	2023
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Loss before income tax	(153,381)	(168,113)
Calculated at tax rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%)	(25,308)	(27,738)
Tax effects of:		
Withholding tax	84	214
Effect of different tax rates in other territories	1,158	(460)
Income not subject to tax*	(10,259)	(1,093)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes	17,374	21,707
Effect of temporary difference no recognised	2,142	_
Super Deduction for research and development costs	(3,129)	_
Tax losses for which no deferred income tax asset was recognised	15,179	12,460
Reversal of previously recognised tax losses	89	8,432
Income tax (credit)/expenses	(2,670)	13,522

^{*} Include income subject to withholding tax calculated based on revenue from projects instead of assessable profits.

11. DIVIDENDS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, no interim dividend was declared by the Company to its shareholders (2023: Nil).

The board of directors of the Company does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

For the year ended 31 December 2024

12. LOSS PER SHARE

(a) Basic

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the respective years.

	2024	2023
Loss attributable to equity holders of the Company (HK\$'000)	(159,101)	(188,898)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of calculating basic loss per share (thousands)	800,000	800,000
Basic loss per share (HK cents)	(19.89)	(23.61)

(b) Diluted

Diluted loss per share is the same as the basic loss per share as there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares during the year (2023: same).

For the year ended 31 December 2024

13. EMOLUMENTS FOR DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

(a) Directors' emoluments

The emoluments of individual directors of the Company during the year which were included in the staff costs as disclosed in note 8 are set out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2024

		,	Employer's	
			to pension	
	Fees	Salaries	scheme	Total
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Executive directors				
Mr. Zhou Hongbao (note (i))	_	_	_	_
Mr. Jiang Hongchang	_	_	_	_
Mr. Liu Yutao	_	_	_	_
Mr. Yang Honghai	_	_	_	_
Mr. Ni Chuchen (note (ii))	_	762	18	780
Mr. Du Jianzhi	_	_	_	_
Mr. Yang Zhenshan (note (v))	_	16	1	17
Ms. Dong Fang (note (vii))	-		-	_
	_	778	19	797
Independent non-executive directors				
Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis	259	_	_	259
Mr. Wang Yaping (note (vi))	130	_	_	130
Mr. Cheng Xuezhan (note (iii))	161	_	_	161
Ms. Chen Yan	259	_	-	259
Mr. Liu Junchun (note (iv))	98	-	-	98
	907	_	_	907

For the year ended 31 December 2024

13. EMOLUMENTS FOR DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (Continued)

(a) Directors' emoluments (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

		Employer's	
		Contribution	
		to pension	
Fee	Salaries	scheme	Total
HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
_	_	_	_
_	_	_	_
_	_	_	_
_	802	18	820
_	_	_	_
_	420	9	429
	1,222	27	1,249
259	_	_	259
259	_	_	259
259	_	_	259
_	_	_	
777	_	_	777
	HK\$'000 259 259 259 -	HK\$'000 HK\$'000 802 420 - 1,222 259 - 259 - 259	Fee Salaries scheme HK\$'000 HK\$'000 HK\$'000 802 18 420 9 - 1,222 27

Notes:

- (i) Mr. Zhou Hongbao was appointed as the Company's director on 10 January 2025.
- (ii) Mr. Ni Chuchen was ceased as chief operating officer on 10 January 2025.
- (iii) Mr. Cheng Xuezhan has resigned as independent non-executive director on 15 August 2024.
- (iv) Mr. Liu Junchun was appointed as independent non-executive director on 15 August 2024.
- (v) Mr. Yang Honghai has resigned as independent non-executive director on 27 June 2024.
- (vi) Mr. Wang Yaping was retired as the Company's directors on 27 June 2024.
- (vii) Ms. Dong Fang was appointed as the Company's director on 27 June 2024.
- (viii) Mr. Yang Zhenshan was retired as the Company's directors on 27 June 2023.
- (ix) Mr. Du Jianzhi was appointed as the Company's director on 27 June 2023.
- (x) Ms. Chen Yan was appointed as the independent non-executive director on 20 December 2023.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

13. EMOLUMENTS FOR DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (Continued)

(a) Directors' emoluments (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, none of the directors of the Company (i) received or were paid any remuneration in respect of accepting office; and (ii) waived or has agreed to waive any emolument (2023: Nil).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no retirement benefits, payments or benefits in respect of termination of directors' services were paid or made, directly or indirectly, to the directors; nor are any payable. No consideration was provided to or receivable by third parties for making available directors' services (2023: Nil).

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group's business to which the Company was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year, other than those disclosed in note 37 of the consolidated financial statements.

Those directors without payment from the Company received emoluments from the ultimate holding company, part of which are in relation to their services to the Company. No apportionment has been done as the directors consider that it is impractical to apportion the amount between their services to the Company and their services to the ultimate holding company, and the amount is immaterial.

(b) Five highest paid individuals

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group include a director (2023: two directors), whose emoluments were reflected in the analysis presented above. The emoluments paid to the five highest paid individuals are as follows:

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Salaries, bonus and other allowances Pension costs – defined contribution plans	3,814 90	3,802 81
	3,904	3,883

The emoluments of the remaining individuals fell within the following band:

	2024	20	23
Nil – HK\$1,000,000	5		5

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no emolument was paid by the Group to any of the directors or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for the loss of office (2023: Nil).

For the year ended 31 December 2024

14. SUBSIDIARIES

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024 and 2023:

Name	Place of Incorporation and type of legal entity	Principal activities and place of operation	Issued share and fully paid share capital		ncipal activities and fully paid Effective into			
				2023	- 2024	2020		
Directly held by the Company:								
Prosper Construction Group Ltd.	British Virgin Islands, limited liability company	Investment holding	HK\$2	HK\$2	100%	100%		
West Coast Development (International) Limited	British Virgin Islands, limited liability company	Investment holding	US\$1,000,000	US\$1,000,000	100%	100%		
Indirectly held by the Company:								
Hong Kong River Engineering Company Limited	Hong Kong, limited liability company	Provision of engineering and construction works in Hong Kong	HK\$60,000,000	HK\$60,000,000	100%	100%		
Creator Pacific Limited	Hong Kong, limited liability company	Letting of vessels for rental income, trading of vessels and provision of repairing services to the vessels	HK\$38,000,000	HK\$38,000,000	100%	100%		
PT. Indonesia River Engineering	Indonesia, limited liability company	Provision of engineering and construction works in Indonesia	US\$400,000	US\$400,000	100%	100%		
Hong Kong River (Macao) Engineering Company Limited (香港瑞沃(澳門)工程有限公司)	Macao, limited liability company	Provision of engineering and construction works in Macao	MOP100,000	MOP100,000	100%	100%		
Creator Pacific (M) SDN. BHD	Malaysia, limited liability company	Provision of engineering and construction works in Malaysia	RM1	RM1	100%	100%		
West Coast Development (Hong Kong) Limited	Hong Kong, limited liability company	Investment holding	US\$1,000,000	US\$1,000,000	100%	100%		
Qingdao Xifa Ruihai Industrial Development Limited	Mainland China, limited liability company	Investment holding	US\$1,000,000	US\$1,000,000	100%	100%		
Qingdao Dongjie Construction Engineering Co., Ltd. ("Qingdao Dongjie")	Mainland China, limited liability company	Provision of construction services in the PRC	RMB50,000,000	RMB50,000,000	80%	80%		
Qingdao Honghai (Note a)	Mainland China, limited liability company	Provision of construction services in the PRC	RMB50,000,000	RMB50,000,000	34%	34%		

For the year ended 31 December 2024

14. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name	Place of Incorporation and type of legal entity	Principal activities and place of operation	Issued and fu share 2024		e interest as at	
Qingdao Bei Fang Construction Design and Research Company Limited ("Bei Fang Construction") (Note b)	Mainland China, limited liability company	Provision of construction design and consultation services in the PRC	RMB10,769,200	RMB10,769,200	35%	35%
Hoi Hao Company Limited	Macao, limited liability company	Inactive	MOP\$100,000	MOP\$100,000	100%	100%
Ruiwo (Zhuhai Hengqin) Construction Engineering Co., Ltd.	Mainland China, limited liability company	Inactive	RMB10,000,000	RMB10,000,000	100%	100%

Notes:

- a. The company was acquired by a non-wholly owned subsidiary on 13 January 2021. The Group is entitled to appoint a majority number of directors of Qingdao Honghai and is able to control its management and operation. Accordingly, Qingdao Honghai is an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and its financial results, assets and liabilities are accounted for in the consolidated financial statement of the Group.
- b. The company was acquired by a non-wholly owned subsidiary on 10 January 2023. The Group is able to control its management and operation. Accordingly, Bei Fang Construction is an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and its financial results, assets and liabilities are accounted for in the consolidated financial statement of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Accounting policy

Depreciation of both owned and leased plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their costs to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings	35 years
Vessels	20 years
Machinery and equipment	3 - 10 years
Furniture and fixtures	5 years
Motor vehicles	3 - 5 years
Office equipment	3 - 10 years

See Note 40.4 for the other accounting policies relevant to property, plant and equipment.

		Furniture		Machinery			
		and	Office	and		Motor	
	Buildings	fixtures	equipment	equipment	Vessels	vehicles	Total
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
At 1 January 2023							
Cost	94,192	289	11,331	89,584	285,239	3,964	484,599
Accumulated depreciation	(1,220)	(233)	(4,005)	(49,168)	(96,525)	(2,100)	(153,251)
Net book amount	92,972	56	7,326	40,416	188,714	1,864	331,348
Year ended 31 December 2023							
Opening net book amount	92,972	56	7,326	40,416	188,714	1,864	331,348
Additions	2,086	8	1,424	499	54,470	1,674	60,161
Disposal	(103)	-	(244)	(95)	(39,094)	(142)	(39,678)
Depreciation (note 8)	(3,253)	(25)	(2,725)	(7,980)	(13,786)	(664)	(28,433)
Exchange difference	(384)	-	(839)	(90)	79	(50)	(1,284)
Closing net book amount	91,318	39	4,942	32,750	190,383	2,682	322,114
At 31 December 2023							
Cost	92,766	295	11,709	89,479	268,806	4,744	467,799
Accumulated depreciation	(1,448)	(256)	(6,767)	(56,729)	(78,423)	(2,062)	(145,685)
Net book amount	91,318	39	4,942	32,750	190,383	2,682	322,114

For the year ended 31 December 2024

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

		Furniture		Machinery			
		and	Office	and		Motor	
	Buildings	fixtures	equipment	equipment	Vessels	vehicles	Total
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Year ended 31 December 2024							
Opening net book amount	91,318	39	4,942	32,750	190,383	2,682	322,114
Additions	339	_	645	2,746	_	_	3,730
Disposal	-	-	(51)	(1,263)	(583)	(17)	(1,914)
Depreciation (note 8)	(3,172)	(14)	(1,967)	(7,962)	(12,840)	(1,010)	(26,965)
Exchange difference	(3,278)	-	(128)	(727)	(422)	(54)	(4,609)
Closing net book amount	85,207	25	3,441	25,544	176,538	1,601	292,356
At 31 December 2024							
Cost	89,710	295	11,781	84,759	267,580	4,561	458,686
Accumulated depreciation	(4,503)	(270)	(8,340)	(59,215)	(91,042)	(2,960)	(166,330)
Net book amount	85,207	25	3,441	25,544	176,538	1,601	292,356

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's properties, plant and equipment with carrying amounts of HK\$84,251,000 (2023: HK\$90,710,000) were secured for a bank facility which covers loans of HK\$75,558,000 (2023: HK\$78,423,000) as at 31 December 2024.

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Accounting policy

Investment properties are interest in land and buildings held to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of business. The Group has adopted the cost model under HKAS 40 to account for its investment properties and such properties is stated at cost less depreciation and any impairment losses. Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of the investment properties to its residual value over its estimated useful life. Depreciation of investment properties is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their costs to their residual values over the estimated useful lives of 20-35 years.

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Opening net book value	13,654	15,561
Depreciation (note 8)	(1,345)	(1,316)
Exchange difference	(487)	(591)
Carrying amount	11,822	13,654
Year ended 31 December		
Cost	17,785	18,459
Accumulated depreciation	(5,563)	(4,405)
Accumulated impairment	(400)	(400)
	11,822	13,654

(a) Amounts recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss for investment properties

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Rental income from operating leases (note 7)	922	1,013
Direct operating expenses of properties that did not generate rental income	(96)	(136)
Direct operating expenses of properties that generate rental income	(962)	(1,362)

(b) Leasing arrangement

The investment properties were leased to tenants under operating leases with rentals prepaid 1 year in advance.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

(c) Fair value of investment properties

The fair value of the investment properties of the Group as at 31 December 2024 was HK\$26,253,000 (2023: HK\$30,105,000) representing the valuation carried out by an independent professionally qualified valuer.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the fair value is estimated using an income capitalisation approach (2023: income capitalisation approach). Under the income capitalisation approach, fair value is estimated by applying assumptions for capitalisation rates and notional income, which are influenced by the prevailing market yields, comparable market transactions and discount rates.

The valuation takes into account the characteristics of the investment property, which include the location, size, shape, view, year of completion and other factors collectively, to arrive at the unit market price. The fair value measurement is based on the above property's highest and best use, which does not differ from the actual use.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the key input is the capitalisation rate. A significant increase/decrease in the capitalisation rate will result in a significant decrease/increase in the fair value of the investment properties (2023: same).

For the year ended 31 December 2024

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

Accounting policy

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the lease and non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices. However, for leases of real estate for which the Group is a lessee, it has elected not to separate lease and non-lease components and instead accounts for these as a single lease component.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease payments:

- fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;
- variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date;
- amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees;
- the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise that option, and
- payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the incremental borrowing rate, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

- where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since third party financing was received
- uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by the Group, which does not have recent third-party financing, and
- makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g., term, country, currency and security.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued)

Accounting policy (Continued)

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease payments based on an index or rate, which are not included in the lease liability until they take effect. When adjustments to lease payments based on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

- the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability
- any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received
- any initial direct costs, and
- restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset's useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued)

Accounting policy (Continued)

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the underlying asset and recognised as expense over the lease term on the same basis as lease income. The respective leased assets are included in the consolidated statement of financial position based on their nature. The Group did not need to make any adjustments to the accounting for assets held as lessor as a result of adopting the new leasing standard.

(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position The consolidated statement of financial position shows the following amounts relating to the leases in respect of office premises and staff quarters:

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
B: 1		
Right-of-use assets		
Non-current	56,946	64,457
Lease liabilities		
Non-current	391	1,503
Current	1,977	2,345
	2,368	3,848

Additions to right-of-use assets during the year ended 31 December 2024 was HK\$450,000 (2023: HK\$1,200,000).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's right-of-use assets with carrying amounts of HK\$23,994,000 (2023: HK\$29,049,000) were secured for a bank facility which covers loans of HK\$75,558,000 (2023: HK\$78,423,000) as at 31 December 2024.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued)

(ii) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

The consolidated statement of profit or loss shows the following amounts relating to the leases in respect of office premises and staff quarters:

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets (note 8) Interest expenses on lease liabilities (note 9)	4,172 137	4,406 221
Leases expenses relating to short-term leases of machineries and equipment (note 8)	62,561	80,979
Leases expenses relating to short-term leases and leases of low-value assets (note 8)	4,663	11,100

The total cash outflow for leases during the year ended 31 December 2024 was HK\$2,582,000 (2023: HK\$2,652,000) excluding short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.

18. GOODWILL

Accounting policy

Goodwill arises from the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interests in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to each of the CGUs, or groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each CGU or group of CGUs to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken at least annually or if events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value of the CGU containing the goodwill is compared to the recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and FVLCD. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and cannot be subsequently reversed.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

18. GOODWILL (Continued)

Goodwill is allocated to the Group's general construction contracting services business from Qingdao Dongjie, Qingdao Honghai and Bei Fang Construction.

Qingdao Honghai HK\$'000	Qingdao Dongjie HK\$'000	Bei Fang Construction HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
24.360	15.630	_	39,990
,555	-	448	448
_	_	(448)	(448)
(597)	(383)		(980)
23,763	15,247	_	39,010
23,763	15,247	448	39,458
		(448)	(448)
23,763	15,247	_	39,010
23,763	15,247	_	39,010
(868)	(556)	-	(1,424)
22,895	14,691	_	37,586
22 895	14 691	434	38,020
	-	(434)	(434)
22 805	14,691		37,586
	Honghai HK\$'000 24,360 - (597) 23,763 23,763 - 23,763 (868)	Honghai HK\$'000 24,360 15,630 (597) (383) 23,763 15,247 23,763 15,247 23,763 15,247 23,763 15,247 23,763 15,247 23,763 15,247 24,895 14,691	Honghai HK\$'000 HK\$'000 24,360

Goodwill is resulted from previous acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses. The goodwill as a result of acquisitions is allocated to the CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the business combination and is monitored thereon accordingly.

For the purpose of impairment review for general construction contracting services business, the recoverable amount of goodwill is determined based on value-in-use calculation. The calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management for the purposes of impairment reviews covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated long term growth rate stated below. There are a number of assumptions and estimates involved in the preparation of cash flow projections for the period and key assumptions include the expected growth in revenues, post-tax discount rate and terminal growth rate.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

18. GOODWILL (Continued)

The key assumptions are as follows:

	2024	2023
Qingdao Dongjie		
Compound annual growth rate	6.9%	8.3%
Discount rate	11.3%	14.9%
Terminal growth rate	0%	0%
Qingdao Honghai		
Compound annual growth rate	13.3%	13.9%
Discount rate	13%	15.0%
Terminal growth rate	0%	0%

The compound annual growth rate used is consistent with the forecasts to reflect the latest development of the CGU. The discount rate used is internal rate of return for financial model calculations. The growth rates do not exceed the long-term average growth rate for business which the Group operates.

Bei Fang Construction is a company to provide construction design and consultation services in the PRC which the Group acquired on 10 January 2023. As Bei Fang Construction suffered losses for the year ended 31 December 2023, which the management expected it would take a longer time to generate more revenue and become profitable in the future. According to the estimated present value of future cash flows, the amount was lower than the carrying amount of Bei Fang Construction's assets. As a result, the Group has made an impairment provision of HK\$448,000 for the goodwill of Bei Fang Construction for the year ended 31 December 2023.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Accounting policy

(a) Licenses, software and patented technology

Licenses, software and patented technology are measured initially at cost or, if acquired in a business combination, fair value at the acquisition date. An intangible asset with a finite useful life is amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful life and carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their costs to their residual values over the estimated useful lives, as follows:

Licenses 10 years
Software 2 – 4 years
Patented technology 10 years

(b) Contract backlogs

Contract backlogs are identified from business combination when they meet the recognition criteria as follows:

- (i) it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the contract backlogs will flow to the Group; and
- (ii) the cost of the contract backlogs can be measured reliably.

The contract backlogs have a finite useful life and are amortised on a straight-line basis over the periods in respect of which the related benefits are expected to be received of not more than 5 years.

See Note 40.5 for the Group's policy regarding impairments.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

			Patented	Contract	
	Licenses	Software	technology	backlogs	Total
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
At 1 January 2023					
Opening net book value	6,417	958	11,340	_	18,715
Acquisition of a subsidiary	2,482	_	_	_	2,482
Addition	_	270	_	_	270
Disposal	_	(221)	_	_	(221)
Amortisation charge (note 8)	(1,476)	(613)	(1,385)	_	(3,474)
Impairment (note 8)	(1,913)	_	_	_	(1,913)
Exchange differences	(205)	(24)	(267)	_	(496)
Net book amount	5,305	370	9,688		15,363
Year ended 31 December 2023					
Cost	11,542	3,271	13,840	5,395	34,048
Accumulated amortisation and	,	,	,	,	,
impairment	(6,237)	(2,901)	(4,152)	(5,395)	(18,685)
Net book amount	5,305	370	9,688	_	15,363
At 1 January 2024					
Opening net book value	5,305	370	9,688	_	15,363
Addition	_	294	_	_	294
Amortisation charge (note 8)	(1,414)	(380)	(1,349)	_	(3,143)
Exchange differences	(40)	(12)	(327)		(379)
Net book amount	3,851	272	8,012	_	12,135
Voor anded 21 December 2024					
Year ended 31 December 2024 Cost	11 001	2 420	12 224	5.071	32.025
Accumulated amortisation and	11,081	3,439	13,334	5,071	32,925
impairment	(7,230)	(3,167)	(5,322)	(5,071)	(20,790)
шрашты	(7,230)	(3,107)	(3,322)	(3,071)	(20,790)
Net book amount	3,851	272	8,012	_	12,135

For the year ended 31 December 2024

20. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

Details of the Group's associate are as follows:

Name	Place of establishment/ incorporation and kind of legal entity	Principal activities	Percen ownershi	tage of p interest
			2024	2023
Qingdao Xinfa Culture Media Co., Ltd. (青島信發文化傳媒有限公司) ("Qingdao Xinfa")	The PRC, limited liability company	Provision of cultural media management, sport and entertainment services	10%	-

Qingdao Xinfa was incorporated on 28 June 2024. The Group is entitled to appoint a representative as director of Qingdao Xinfa and participated in its management and operation. Accordingly, Qingdao Xinfa is an associate of the Company and is accounted for using equity method in the consolidated financial statements.

21. INVENTORIES

Accounting policy

Inventories comprise building materials and are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out ("FIFO") basis, comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

	2024	2023
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Construction materials	18,633	21,004

Amounts recognised in profit or loss

Cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to HK\$632,178,000 (2023: HK\$772,663,000) (note 8).

For the year ended 31 December 2024

22. TRADE, RETENTION AND NOTES RECEIVABLES, AND AMOUNTS DUE FROM FELLOW SUBSIDIARIES

Accounting policy

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business. If collection of trade receivable is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain significant financing components, when they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables with the objective of collecting the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method less provision for impairment.

When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against "administrative expenses" in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

22. TRADE, RETENTION AND NOTES RECEIVABLES, AND AMOUNTS DUE FROM FELLOW SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Trade receivables	1,289,969	1,073,911
Less: Loss allowance	(114,881)	(97,566)
Trade receivables – net	1,175,088	976,345
	04.704	100.045
Retention receivables Less: Loss allowance	84,724 (5,260)	100,045 (6,138)
	(=,===)	(2,122)
Retention receivables – net	79,464	93,907
Notes receivables	10.611	110.650
Less: Loss allowance	10,611 (868)	119,650 (1,253)
Notes receivables – net	9,743	118,397
Trade, retention and notes receivables, net	1,264,295	1,188,649
	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries – trade balances Less: Loss allowance	1,205,323 (1,203)	1,178,116 (4,978)
Less. Loss allowance	(1,200)	(4,370)
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, net	1,204,120	1,173,138
The ageing analysis of the trade receivables based on invoice date was as fol	lows:	
	0004	2023
	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Within 1 year	688,742	722,566
1 to 2 years Over 2 years	347,743 138,603	189,299 64,480
	100,000	04,400
且自己是不能 门。据到一一是 7.07 三二十四 25	1,175,088	976,345

For the year ended 31 December 2024

9,743

22. TRADE, RETENTION AND NOTES RECEIVABLES, AND AMOUNTS DUE FROM FELLOW SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

In the consolidated statement of financial position, retention receivables were classified as current assets. The ageing of the retention receivables based on invoice date was as follows:

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Within 1 year	15,009	3,715
Between 1 and 5 years	62,792	68,590
Over 5 years	1,663	21,602
	79,464	93,907
The ageing of the notes receivables based on invoice date as follows:		
	2024	2023
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Within 1 year	9,743	118,397

The ageing analysis of the amounts due from fellow subsidiaries based on invoice date was as follows:

Between 1 and 5 years

Over 5 years

	2024	2023
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Within 1 year	600,074	678,155
1 to 2 years	511,773	366,507
Over 2 years	92,273	128,476
	1,204,120	1,173,138

118,397

For the year ended 31 December 2024

22. TRADE, RETENTION AND NOTES RECEIVABLES, AND AMOUNTS DUE FROM FELLOW SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Impairment and risk exposure

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade, retention and notes receivables and amounts due from fellow subsidiaries.

The loss allowance for trade, retention and notes receivables and amounts due from fellow subsidiaries recognised during the current reporting period are disclosed in note 3.1(b).

Information about the impairment of trade, retention and notes receivables and the Group's exposure to credit risk and foreign currency risk can be found in note 3.1(b).

The credit period granted to trade customers other than for retention receivables was within 30 days to 90 days for marine construction works and auxiliary marine related services whereas there is generally due upon issuance of invoices to the customers for general construction services in the PRC. The terms and conditions in relation to the release of retention vary from contract to contract, which may be subject to practical completion, the expiry of the defect liability period or a pre-agreed time period. The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

The carrying amounts of trade, retention and notes receivables, and amounts due from fellow subsidiaries approximated their fair values and were denominated in the following currencies:

	2024	2023
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
HK\$	106,737	127,253
RMB	2,310,178	2,152,814
US\$	22,889	33,743
MOP	28,611	47,332
IDR	-	645
	2,468,415	2,361,787

For the year ended 31 December 2024

23. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables (note)	354,540	259,882
Less: Loss allowance	(15,997)	(4,893)
	338,543	254,989
Less: current	(319,953)	(229,071)
Non-current	18,590	25,918

Note: The balance mainly represents security deposits for construction projects, value-added tax receivable, tendering and other miscellaneous receivables.

24. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES

The Group has recognised the following assets and liabilities related to contracts with customers:

	2024	2023
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Contract assets		
Provision of construction services – third parties	1,337,410	1,158,159
Provision of construction services – fellow subsidiaries	446,712	620,054
Less: Loss allowance	(74,290)	(41,627)
	1,709,832	1,736,586
Contract liabilities		
Provision of construction services	(43,621)	(5,439)

(a) Significant changes in contract assets and liabilities

Contract assets represents the amount by which the construction services performed by the Group is ahead of the right to payment upon receiving certification from quantity surveyors for fixed-price contracts. The Group also applied the simplified approach to provide for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for contract assets. Details of the impairment assessment of contract assets are set out in note 3.1(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

24. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

(b) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities

The following table presents the revenue recognised during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 relates to carried-forward contract liabilities.

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Revenue recognised that was included in the contract liability balance at the beginning of the period	1,687	7,646

(c) Unsatisfied performance obligations

The following table shows unsatisfied performance obligations resulting from fixed-price long-term construction and auxiliary marine related services contracts.

2024	2023
HK\$'000	HK\$'000
4,442,662	11,714,894
	HK\$'000

Management expects that the transaction prices regarding the unsatisfied contracts as of 31 December 2024 and 2023 will be recognised as revenue by referencing to the progress towards completion of the contract activity.

25. JOINT ARRANGEMENT

The following sets out the joint operations indirectly undertaken by the Company as at 31 December 2024 and 2023:

Name	Place of establishment/ incorporation and kind of legal entity Principal activities		Percentage of ownership interest	
			2024	2023
Concentric-Hong Kong River Joint Venture ("CHKRJV")	Hong Kong, unincorporated joint venture	Provision of construction services	51%	51%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and deposits held at call with banks with original maturity of three months or less. Bank deposits which are restricted to use are included in "restricted cash" of the consolidated statement of financial position. Restricted cash is excluded from cash and cash equivalents.

	2024	2023
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Cash at bank	314,932	205,394
Less: Restricted cash (note (a))	(67,208)	(21,007)
Less: Pledged bank deposits (note (b), (c))	(116,204)	(31,053)
Less: Time deposits with maturity over 3 months	(2,114)	(8,384)
Cash and cash equivalents	129,406	144,950
Maximum exposure to credit risk	314,932	205,394

(a) As at 31 December 2024, bank balances of HK\$67,208,000 (2023: HK\$6,704,000) have been restricted in certain banks through court's orders by certain creditors' legal actions in relation to claims for outstanding payables of the Group to the extent of HK\$439,513,000 (2023: HK\$3,476,000).

As at 31 December 2023, bank balances of HK\$14,303,000 have also been restricted by a bank due to the bank account has not been used for a certain period of time. The balance have been unfrozen during the year.

- (b) As at 31 December 2024, the Group's bank deposits of HK\$88,960,000 (2023: HK\$20,000,000) were pledged to secure bank borrowings of the Group (note 30(f)(i), (ii) and (iii)).
- (c) As at 31 December 2024, the Group's bank deposits of HK\$27,244,000 (2023: HK\$11,053,000) were pledged to secure notes payables of the Group (note 29).
- (d) The conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies and the remittance of such foreign currencies out of the PRC are subject to relevant rules and regulation of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, time deposits, restricted cash and pledged bank deposits were denominated in the following currencies:

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
HK\$ RMB US\$ MOP IDR MYR	30,088 282,378 46 2,140 280	43,279 158,690 528 2,467 372 58
	314,932	205,394

For the year ended 31 December 2024

27. SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE PREMIUM AND RESERVES

Accounting policy

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

(a) Share capital

	Number of	
	shares	Share capital
		HK\$'000
Ordinary shares, authorised:		
At 1 January 2023 and 2024 and 31 December 2023 and 2024	4,000,000,000	40,000
	Number of	
	shares	Share capital
		HK\$'000
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid:		
At 1 January 2023 and 2024 and 31 December 2023 and 2024	800,000,000	8,000

For the year ended 31 December 2024

27. SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE PREMIUM AND RESERVES (Continued)

(b) Share premium and reserves

	Share premium HK\$'000	Other reserves (Note (i))	Exchange reserves HK\$'000	Statutory reserve (Note (ii)) HK\$'000	Retained earnings HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
At 1 January 2023	214,840	23,506	(17,399)	8,387	270,458	499,792
Comprehensive income						
Loss for the year	_	_		_	(188,898)	(188,898)
Exchange differences	_	-	(3,831)	-	-	(3,831)
Appropriation to statutory						
reserves		_		448	(448)	
At 31 December 2023	214,840	23,506	(21,230)	8,835	81,112	307,063
At 1 January 2024	214,840	23,506	(21,230)	8,835	81,112	307,063
Comprehensive income						
Loss for the year	_	_	_	_	(159,101)	(159,101)
Exchange differences	-	-	(10,940)	-	-	(10,940)
At 31 December 2024	214,840	23,506	(32,170)	8,835	(77,989)	137,022

Notes:

(i) Other reserves

Other reserves of the Group mainly represented the difference between the share capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the reorganisation over the nominal value of the share capital of the Company issued in exchange thereof.

(ii) Statutory reserve

In accordance with the relevant PRC regulations applicable to wholly foreign owned enterprises, the PRC subsidiary is required to appropriate to reserve fund an amount of not less than 10% of the profit after income tax, calculated based on the PRC accounting standards. Should the accumulated total of this reserve fund reach 50% of the registered capital of the PRC subsidiary, the subsidiary will not be required to make any further appropriation. The reserve fund can only be used, upon approval by the shareholders' meeting or similar authorities, to offset accumulated losses or increase capital.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

28. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (ASSETS)/LIABILITIES

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Payables or to be settled in more than 12 months		
Deferred income tax liabilities Deferred income tax assets	11,013 (16,220)	1,898 -
Deferred income tax (assets)/liabilities, net	(5,207)	1,898

The movements in deferred income tax liabilities/(assets) during the year are as follows:

	Accelerated tax depreciation/ amortisation	Tax losses HK\$'000	Unrealised profits HK\$'000	Provision HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
	111/4 000	11/4 000	ΤΙΚΦ ΟΟΟ	ΠΑΦ 000	ΤΙΚΦ ΟΟΟ
As at 1 January 2023	38,818	(19,002)	(1,390)	(16,836)	1,590
Acquisition of a subsidiary	39	-	-	_	39
Recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (note 10)	(3,980)	8,432	(10)	(5,054)	(612)
Exchange difference	3,588	0,402	(227)	(2,480)	881
	0,000		(221)	(2, 100)	
As at 31 December 2023 Recognised in the consolidated	38,465	(10,570)	(1,627)	(24,370)	1,898
statement of profit or loss (note 10)	(148)	89	10	(7,495)	(7,544)
Exchange difference	(425)	42	58	764	439
As at 31 December 2024	37,892	(10,439)	(1,559)	(31,101)	(5,207)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had unrecognised tax losses of approximately HK\$158,932,000 (2023: HK\$73,996,000) that can be carried forward to offset against future taxable income. Losses amounting to HK\$149,198,000 (2023: HK\$69,081,000) have no expiry date and losses amounting to HK\$22,387,000 (2023: HK\$4,915,000) will expire within 5 years.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

29. TRADE, RETENTION AND NOTES PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Trade payables	2,454,888	2,345,891
Notes payables (note (a))	149,961	13,114
Retention payables	15,533	7,500
Accruals and other payables	260,646	313,805
	2,881,028	2,680,310

Note:

The credit period granted for trade payables and other payables was within 30 to 90 days.

The ageing analysis of the trade payables based on invoice date was as follows:

	2024	2023
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Within 1 year	1,327,080	2,164,385
Over 1 year	1,127,808	181,506
	2,454,888	2,345,891
The ageing analysis of the notes payables based on invoice date was as follow	VS:	
	2024	2023
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Within 1 year	149,961	13,114
within r your	140,001	10,114

⁽a) As at 31 December 2024, notes payables of HK\$149,961,000 (2023: HK\$13,114,000) were denominated in RMB and secured by time deposits of HK\$27,244,000 (2023: HK\$11,053,000) (note 26). The carrying amounts of notes payables approximate their fair values at the end of the reporting period.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

29. TRADE, RETENTION AND NOTES PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

In the consolidated statement of financial position, retention payables were classified as current liabilities. The ageing of the retention payables based on invoice date was as follows:

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Within 1 year	2,989	1,562
Between 1 year and 2 years	2,932	3,052
Between 2 years and 5 years	9,612	2,886
	15,533	7,500

The carrying amounts of trade, retention and notes payables approximated their fair values and were denominated in the following currencies:

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
HK\$	41,831	55,695
US\$	3,085	4,156
RMB	2,541,713	2,269,646
MOP	33,753	36,772
MYR	-	79
PKR	-	157
	2,620,382	2,366,505

For the year ended 31 December 2024

30. BORROWINGS

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Non-current:		
Long-term bank loans (secured) (Note (f) (v), (vii) and (viii))	350,098	78,423
Current:		
Long-term bank loans due for repayment within one year (secured)		
(Note (f) (vii) and (viii)	75,558	327,692
Short-term bank borrowings:		
- secured (note (f) (i), (ii), (iii), (iv), (vi) and (vii))	992,459	1,144,003
- unsecured	129,893	32,105
Other borrowings (unsecured)	163,217	30,460
	1,361,127	1,534,260
	1,711,225	1,612,683

(a) Based on the scheduled repayment terms set out in the loan agreements, the maturity of borrowings would be as follows:

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Within 1 year	1 205 560	1 524 260
Within 1 year	1,285,569	1,534,260
Between 1 year and 2 years	248,999	_
Between 2 years and 5 years	101,099	_
Over 5 years	75,558	78,423
	1,711,225	1,612,683

(b) The weighted average interest rate during the year were as follows:

	2024	2023
Short-term bank loans	4.7%	5.2%
Long-term bank loans	4.6%	5.0%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

30. BORROWINGS (Continued)

(c) The carrying amounts of the Group's borrowings were denominated in following currencies:

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
HK\$ MOP RMB	133,000 28,176 1,550,049	321,119 37,961 1,253,603
NIVID	1,711,225	1,612,683

- (d) The carrying amounts of the Group's borrowings approximated their fair values as the impact of discounting is not significant.
- (e) As at 31 December 2024, the Group's total undrawn banking facilities amounted to HK\$1,199,708,000 (2023: HK\$512,683,000).
- (f) The Group's loan facilities are subject to annual review and secured or guaranteed by:
 - (i) Project contracts executed by a subsidiary, guarantees of HK\$228,000,000 (2023: HK\$228,000,000) from the Company together with the subsidiaries and pledged deposits of HK\$14,063,000 (2023: HK\$10,000,000) from a subsidiary for a bank facility which covers loans of HK\$99,500,000 (2023: HK\$130,000,000) and no performance bond facility (2023: performance bond facility of HK\$43,860,000) as at 31 December 2024.
 - (ii) Unlimited guarantees provided by the Company for bank facilities and pledged deposits of HK\$10,025,000 (2023: HK\$10,000,000) which covers loans of HK\$30,000,000 (2023: HK\$50,000,000) as at 31 December 2024.
 - (iii) Promissory note of MOP32,010,000 (2023: promissory notes in the amounts of MOP137,500,000 and MOP187,000,000 respectively) and guarantees by the Company and a subsidiary of the Company in total amount of MOP29,100,000 (2023: MOP225,000,000) for a bank facility which covers loans of HK\$28,176,000 (2023: HK\$37,961,000) as at 31 December 2024.
 - (iv) Irrevocable and unconditional standby letter of credit from the related companies of the Company for a bank facility which covers loans of HK\$110,660,000 as at 31 December 2023.
 - (v) Group's properties, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets with carrying amounts of HK\$84,251,000 (2023: HK\$90,710,000) and of HK\$23,994,000 (2023: HK\$29,049,000) for a bank facility which covers loans of HK\$75,558,000 (2023: HK\$78,423,000) as at 31 December 2024.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

30. BORROWINGS (Continued)

- (f) The Group's loan facilities are subject to annual review and secured or guaranteed by: (Continued)
 - (vi) Guarantees of HK\$112,664,000 provided by a subsidiary for bank facilities which covers loans of HK\$135,089,000 (2023: HK\$87,259,000) as at 31 December 2024.
 - (vii) Unlimited guarantees provided by the ultimate holding company (Note 38) for bank facilities which covers loans of HK\$508,583,000 (2023: HK\$959,167,000) as at 31 December 2024.
 - (viii) Unlimited guarantees provided by the ultimate holding company (Note 38) together with a subsidiary for bank facilities which covers loans of HK\$541,209,000 (2023: HK\$96,648,000) as at 31 December 2024.
- (g) Compliance with bank covenants

As at 31 December 2024, certain bank borrowings with outstanding principal amounting to HK\$129,500,000 contained financial covenants and required the Group to meet certain financial ratio requirements.

These loan agreements require the Group to comply with financial and non-financial covenants:

Financial covenants

- i. The tangible net worth shall not be less than HK\$450,000,000;
- ii. The net debt to net worth shall not exceed 2 times; and
- iii. Net external gearing ratio shall not exceed 2 times;

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has not complied with certain financial covenant requirements of bank borrowings with outstanding principal amounting to HK\$129,500,000. The non-compliance of financial covenants also triggered cross-defaults of certain other bank borrowings of the Group amounting to HK\$299,041,000 as at 31 December 2024. As a result, bank borrowings totalling HK\$428,541,000 as at 31 December 2024 have become repayable upon request by the banks and classified as current liabilities. Subsequent to the reporting date and before the date of authorisation of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024, the relevant banks have granted waivers to the Group in respect of the unsatisfied financial covenants.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has not complied with certain financial covenant requirements of bank borrowings with outstanding principal amounting to HK\$192,762,000. The non-compliance of financial covenants also triggered cross-defaults of certain other bank borrowings of the Group amounting to HK\$630,495,000 as at 31 December 2023. As a result, bank borrowing totalling HK\$823,257,000 as at 31 December 2023 have become repayable upon request by the banks and classified as current liabilities.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

31. CORPORATE BONDS

	2024	2023
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Current:		
Corporate bonds	29,835	_

In December 2024, the Company had entered into subscription agreements with a bondholder, pursuant to which the bondholder agreed to subscribe corporate bonds in the principal amounts of RMB30,000,000 at a discount of 99.45%. Each bond is interest bearing at 5.95% per annum and will be matured within one year.

32. COMMITMENTS

Operating lease rental receivable

The future aggregate minimum lease rental income under operating leases in respect of land and buildings is receivable in the following year:

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Within one year	1,171	1,166
1 – 2 years	1,171	744
2 – 5 years	1,223	953
	3,565	2,863

For the year ended 31 December 2024

33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND DISPUTES

Accounting policy

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not probable that outflow of economic resources will be required, or the amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, they will then be recognised as a provision.

(a) Contingent liabilities in relation to performance bonds of construction contracts

As at 31 December 2024, a performance bond amounted to HK\$8,616,000 was given by a subsidiary of the Group in respect of a construction contract in the ordinary course of business. The performance bond is expected to be released in accordance with the terms of the respective construction contract for the customer.

As at 31 December 2023, the joint operation held by the Group have given guarantees on performance bonds in respect of construction contracts in the ordinary course of business, and the amounts shared by the Group totalled HK\$43,860,000. The performance bonds are expected to be released in accordance with the terms of the respective construction contracts. As at 31 December 2024, the performance bonds have been released during the year.

(b) Involvement in litigation

The subsidiaries of the Group are the two of the three defendants to a litigation in which they are alleged to have caused damage to certain facilities of the plaintiff during a typhoon in the previous years. The plaintiff is claiming damages for HK\$112 million (2023: HK\$112 million) subject to adjustments. As advised by the Group's independent legal advisor, the case is at an early stage before exchanging evidence and it is not possible to give a firm evaluation of the likelihood of the outcome or estimate the possible amount of loss, if any. Consequently, no provision in relation to the litigation has been made in the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2024 (2023: same).

For the year ended 31 December 2024

34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Reconciliations of loss before income tax to net cash used in operations:

	2024	2023
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Loss before income tax	(153,381)	(168,113)
Provision for impairment losses on financial assets	61,298	86,775
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment	26,965	28,433
Depreciation of right-of-use assets	4,172	4,406
Depreciation of investment properties	1,345	1,316
Amortisation of intangible assets	3,143	3,474
Impairment of goodwill	-	448
Impairment of intangible assets	-	1,913
Loss/(gain) on disposal of plant and equipment	940	(973)
Loss on disposal of intangible assets	_	221
Loss on disposal of right-of-use assets	35	_
Loss on dissolvement of a joint venture	1,826	_
Fair value gain on financial asset at fair value through profit or loss	(762)	(1,125)
Share of results of an associate	65	_
Finance income	(2,332)	(3,751)
Finance costs	85,210	71,465
Operating profit before working capital change	28,524	24,489
Changes in working capital:		
Decrease/(increase) in inventory	2,458	(7,745)
Increase in trade, retention and notes receivables	(104,131)	(407,653)
(Increase)/decrease in deposits, prepayments and other receivables	(94,375)	28,253
Increase in restricted cash	(47,890)	(16,999)
Increase in contract assets	(7,401)	(160,643)
Changes in balance with a related company	13,003	(523)
Changes in balances with fellow subsidiaries	(18,270)	(112,199)
Increase in amount due to ultimate holding company	28,923	4,830
Increase/(decrease) in trade, retention and notes payables	245,107	(170,527)
(Decrease)/increase in accruals and other payables	(56,546)	25,525
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities	37,100	(2,122)
		,
Net cash generated from/(used in) operations	26,502	(795,314)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment comprise:

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Net book amount (Loss)/gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (note 7)	1,914 (940)	39,678 973
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment	974	40,651

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

This section sets out an analysis of liabilities arising from financing activities and the movements in liabilities arising from financing activities for the year.

	Loans from an			Amounts	Amounts		
	intermediate			due to	due to		
	holding			non-controlling	fellow	Corporate	
	company	Lease liabilities	Borrowings	interests	subsidiaries	bonds	Total
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
At 1 January 2023	145,852	5,436	1,092,566	47,163	35,536	-	1,326,553
Cash inflows	-	-	1,053,784	-	-	-	1,053,784
Cash outflows	-	(2,431)	(512,269)	(34,998)	-	-	(549,698)
Other non-cash movements	-	-	-	_	34,373	-	34,373
Addition – leases	-	1,200	-	_	-	-	1,200
Exchange difference	-	(357)	(21,398)	(1,120)	-	-	(22,875)
At 31 December 2023 and							
1 January 2024	145,852	3,848	1,612,683	11,045	69,909	-	1,843,337
Cash inflows	-	-	2,064,122	-	-	29,835	2,093,957
Cash outflows	-	(2,582)	(1,959,323)	(13,963)	-	-	(1,975,868)
Interest paid	-	-	(46,589)	-	-	-	(46,589)
Other non-cash movements	-	-	-	-	10,179	-	10,179
Addition - leases	-	450	-	-	-	-	450
Lease modification	-	518	-	-	-	-	518
Dividend (note d)	-	-	-	8,045	-	-	8,045
Interest expenses	-	137	56,656	-	-	-	56,793
Exchange difference	(953)	(3)	(16,324)	(223)	385	-	(17,118)
At 31 December 2024	144,899	2,368	1,711,225	4,904	80,473	29,835	1,973,704

For the year ended 31 December 2024

34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(d) Major non-cash transaction

During the year ended 31 December 2024, dividend of HK\$8,045,000 (2023: Nil) to non-controlling interests has been settled through current account.

35. AMOUNTS DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Amounts due to non-controlling interests	4,904	11,045

The balances were interest-free, unsecured and repayable on demand.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

36. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Set out below is summarised financial information for Qingdao Honghai that has non-controlling interests that are material to the Group. The amounts disclosed for Qingdao Honghai are before inter-company eliminations.

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Summarised statement of financial position		
Current assets	1,086,060	940,632
Current liabilities	(1,022,964)	(827,519)
Net current assets	63,096	113,113
Non-current assets	136,348	157,063
Non-current liabilities	-	(78,423)
Net non-current assets	136,348	78,640
Net assets	199,444	191,753
Accumulated non-controlling interests (note)	134,034	125,496
Summarised statement of comprehensive income		
Revenue	644,002	703,505
Profit for the year	14,593	19,671
Other comprehensive income	(1,657)	(2,050)
	12,936	17,621
Total comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests	8,538	11,027
Summarised statement of cash flows		
Cash flows from operating activities	(351)	(127,957)
Cash flows from investing activities	(6,247)	(3,226)
Cash flows from financing activities	3,730	142,329
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents	(2,868)	11,146

Note:

During the year ended 31 December 2023, capital from non-controlling interests in total amount of approximately HK\$31,738,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB28,704,000) were injected into Qingdao Honghai.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

36. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued)

Set out below is summarised financial information for Qingdao Dongjie that has non-controlling interests that are material to the Group. The amounts disclosed for Qingdao Dongjie before inter-company eliminations.

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Summarised statement of financial position Current assets	2 260 404	0.105.010
Current liabilities	3,369,421 (3,091,238)	3,135,818 (3,128,335)
Current liabilities	(3,091,236)	(3,120,333)
Net current assets	278,183	7,483
Non-current assets	123,023	122,794
Non-current liabilities	(350,098)	(379)
Net non-current (liabilities)/assets	(227,075)	122,415
Net assets	51,108	129,898
Accumulated non-controlling interests	24,551	39,916
Summarised statement of comprehensive income Revenue	981,864	1,294,752
(Loss)/profit for the year	(34,505)	1,451
Other comprehensive income	(2,097)	(2,406)
	(36,602)	(955)
Total comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests	(7,320)	1,392
Dividend to non-controlling interests	8,045	_
Summarised statement of cash flows		
Cash flows from operating activities	31,151	(522,092)
Cash flows from investing activities	(1,179)	(6,588)
Cash flows from financing activities	60,224	179,045
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	90,196	(349,635)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related parties are those parties that have the ability to control, jointly control or exert significant influence over the other party in holding power over the investee; exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor's returns. Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control or joint control. Related parties may be individuals or other entities.

(a) The directors of the Company are of the view that the following companies were related parties that had transactions or balances with the Group during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023:

Name of the related party	Relationship with the Group		
Shenzhen Changsheng Marine Engineering Limited	A related company controlled by		
("Shenzhen Changsheng")	Mr. Cui Qi		
West Coast Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited	An intermediate holding company of the Company		
Qingdao Rongchuang Xifa Cultural Development Limited	A fellow subsidiary		
(青島融創西發文化發展有限公司)			
("Rongchuang Xifa")			
Qingdao Xifa Cangmashan Construction Limited	A fellow subsidiary		
(青島西發藏馬山建設開發集團有限公司)			
("Xifa Cangmashan Construction")			
Qingdao Xifa Properties Limited	A fellow subsidiary		
(青島西發置業有限公司)			
("Xifa Properties")			
Qingdao West Coast New District Development Limited	A fellow subsidiary		
(青島西海岸新區開發建設有限公司)			
("West Coast New District")			
Qingdao West Coast Sky Construction Development Limited (青島西海岸天業建設發展有限公司)	A fellow subsidiary		
("West Coast Sky")			
Qingdao West Coast Technology Innovation Development Co., Limited (青島西海岸科創投資開發有限公司)	A fellow subsidiary		
("West Coast Technology Innovation")			
Qingdao Xifa Cangmashan Agricultural Development Limited	A fellow subsidiary		
(青島西發藏馬山農業發展有限公司)			
("Xifa Cangmashan Agricultural")			
Qingdao Oriental Fashion Development Limited	A fellow subsidiary		
(青島東方時尚開發建設有限公司)			
("Oriental Fashion Development")			
Qingdao Film Academy	A fellow subsidiary		
(青島電影學院)			

For the year ended 31 December 2024

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a) The directors of the Company are of the view that the following companies were related parties that had transactions or balances with the Group during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023: (Continued)

Name of the related party	Relationship with the Group
	A.C. II
Qingdao Blue Valley Medical Management Limited	A fellow subsidiary
(青島藍色醫穀醫療管理有限責任公司)	
("Blue Valley Medical Management")	A follow aubaidian
Qingdao Aucma Refrigeration Appliance Co., Ltd. (青島澳柯瑪製冷電器有限公司)	A fellow subsidiary
(自岛疾性病教权电路有政公司) ("Aucma Refrigeration Appliance")	
China Haifa (Qingdao) Investment Co., Ltd	A fellow subsidiary
(中交海發(青島)投資有限公司)	A fellow subsidially
("Haifa Investment")	
Qingdao Xifa Healthcare Group Co., Ltd	A fellow subsidiary
(青島西發康養醫療有限公司)	, trolle W dazerdially
("Xifa Healthcare Group")	
Qingdao Rongchuang Haifa Cultural Development Limited	A fellow subsidiary
(青島融創海發文化發展有限公司)	ŕ
("Rongchuang Haifa")	
Qingdao Dongfang Film and Television Industry Co., Ltd	A fellow subsidiary
(青島東方影都影視產業管理有限公司)	
("Dongfang Film and Television Industry")	
Qingdao West Coast Tianze Construction Development Co., Ltd.	A fellow subsidiary
(青島西海岸天澤建設發展有限公司)	
("West Coast Tianze Construction")	
Qingdao Haifa Tianqing Construction Co., Ltd.	A fellow subsidiary
(青島海發天清建設有限公司)	
("Haifa Tianqing Construction")	
Qingdao Haifa Commercial Management Co., Ltd.	A fellow subsidiary
(青島海發商業管理有限公司)	
("Haifa Commercial Management")	
Qingdao Haifa Commercial Management Co., Ltd.	A fellow subsidiary
Xingguang Island Commercial Operation Management Branch	
(青島海發商業管理有限公司星光島商業運營管理分公司)	
("Haifa Commercial Management (Xingguang Island Branch)")	A fallow and alalian
Qingdao Haifa Commercial Management Co., Ltd.	A fellow subsidiary
Xingguang Island Commercial Operation Management Branch (青島海發商業管理有限公司黄島星海分公司)	
(自场序發向来自连有版公司與场套序列公司) ("Haifa Commercial Management (Huangdao Xinghai Branch)")	
Qingdao Yingdu Ecological Sightseeing Park Co., Ltd.	A fellow subsidiary
(青島影都生態觀光園有限公司)	7 Tollow Substituting
("Yingdu Ecological Sightseeing Park")	
(Thigas 2000gloss digitions ing t sait)	

For the year ended 31 December 2024

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a) The directors of the Company are of the view that the following companies were related parties that had transactions or balances with the Group during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023: (Continued)

Name of the related party	Relationship with the Group
Qingdao Haifa Environmental Protection Energy Investment Co., Ltd.	A fellow subsidiary
(青島海發環保能源投資有限公司)	
("Haifa Environmental Protection")	
Qingdao Xifa Commercial Factoring Co., Limited	A fellow subsidiary
(青島西發商業保理有限公司)	
("Xifa Commercial Factoring")	
Qingdao Haifa Tianxing Huajin Equestrian Sports Investment Co., Ltd.	A fellow subsidiary
(青島海發天星華錦馬術運營動投資有限公司)	
("Haifa Tianxing Huajin Equestrian Sports")	
Qingdao Xifa Zangmashan Agricultural Trade Co., Ltd.	A fellow subsidiary
(青島西發藏馬山農貿有限公司)	
("Xifa Agricultural Trade")	
Qingdao Haifa Hongrui Property Management Co., Ltd.	A fellow subsidiary
(青島海發弘睿物業管理有限公司)	
("Haifa Hongrui Property")	
Qingdao Big Data Technology Development Limited	A fellow subsidiary
(青島數據科技發展有限公司)	
("Big Data Technology Development")	
Qingdao Haiwenxinghui Exhibition Co., Ltd.	A fellow subsidiary
(青島海文星匯會展有限公司)	
("Haiwenxinghui Exhibition")	
Qingdao Film Museum Co., Ltd.	A fellow subsidiary
(青島影都電影博物館有限公司)	
("Film Museum")	
Qingdao Haifa Financial Leasing Co., Ltd.	A fellow subsidiary
(青島海發融資租賃有限公司)	
("Haifa Financial Leasing")	
Qingdao Dongqisheng Information Consulting Co., Ltd.	A related company controlled by
(青島東祺晟資訊諮詢有限公司)	non-controlling interests
("Dongqisheng Information Consulting")	
Qingdao Linli Wanjia Investment Development Co., Ltd.	A fellow subsidiary
(青島鄰里萬家投資發展有限公司)	
("Linli Wanjia Investment Development")	

For the year ended 31 December 2024

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Transactions

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the following transactions were carried out with related parties at terms mutually agreed by both parties:

	2024	2023
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Construction project income from:		
Rongchuang Xifa	13,141	33,179
Xifa Cangmashan Construction	703	2
Xifa Properties	-	5,724
West Coast Sky	85,825	39,201
West Coast New District	40,255	255,795
Qingdao Film Academy	32,486	131,454
Oriental Fashion Development	6,645	43,336
West Coast Technology Innovation	76,849	110,523
Blue Valley Medical Management	1,505	1,268
Rongchuang Haifa	-	19,214
Haifa Investment	60,256	65,951
Aucma Refrigeration Appliance	10,251	51,306
Xifa Healthcare Group	-	389
Dongfang Film and Television Industry	1,290	7,780
West Coast Tianze Construction	1,226	3,461
Haifa Tianqing Construction	-	2,423
Haifa Commercial Management	3,094	_
Haifa Commercial Management (Xingguang Island Branch)	3,476	1,480
Haifa Commercial Management (Huangdao Xinghai Branch)	858	_
Yingdu Ecological Sightseeing Park	-	177
Haifa Environmental Protection	1,089	123
Xifa Commercial Factoring	9	59
Haifa Tianxing Huajin Equestrian Sports	_	50
Film Museum	425	_
Haifa Financial Leasing	25	_
Linli Wanjia Investment Development	3,431	_
	342,839	772,895

For the year ended 31 December 2024

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Transactions (Continued)

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
Construction project costs paid to:		
Haifa Hongrui Property	(637)	_
Big Data Technology Development	(9,974)	(14,699)
	(10,611)	(14,699)
Interest expenses to West Coast		
Investment (Hong Kong) Limited (note 9(a))	(10,017)	(3,545)

All of the transactions are charged at terms pursuant to the agreement as entered into between the Group and the respective related party.

(c) Balances

	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000	Nature
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries (note (i))	1,204,120	1,173,138	Trade
Amounts due nom lellow subsidiaries (note (I))	1,204,120	1,170,100	11446
Amount due to ultimate holding company (note (ii))	(34,849)	(4,830)	Non-trade
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries			
- Big Data Technology Development (note (iii))	(19,912)	(17,909)	Trade
- Xifa Cangmashan Agricultural (note (iii))	(140)	(145)	Trade
- Haifa Hongrui Property (note (iii))	(255)	(134)	Trade
- Xifa Agricultural Trade (note (iii))	(143)	(148)	Trade
– Haiwenxinghui Exhibition (note (iii))	(13)	_	Trade
- Xifa Commercial Factoring (note (iv))	(60,010)	(51,573)	Non-trade
Carrying amounts	(80,473)	(69,909)	
Amounts due to related companies			
Shenzhen Changsheng (note (v))	(186)	(386)	Non-trade
- Dongqisheng Information Consulting (note (v))	(13,696)		Non-trade
Carrying amounts	(13,882)	(386)	
Loans from an intermediate holding company			
- West Coast Investment (Hong Kong)			
Limited (note (vi))	(144,899)	(145,852)	Non-trade

For the year ended 31 December 2024

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c) Balances (Continued)

Notes:

- (i) The amounts due from fellow subsidiaries were unsecured, interest-free and generally has no credit period granted. The carrying amounts of amounts due from fellow subsidiaries approximated their fair values and were denominated in RMB.
- (ii) The amount due to ultimate holding company was unsecured, interest-free and generally has no credit period granted. The ageing of amount due to ultimate holding company was within one year. The carrying amounts of amount due to ultimate holding company approximated their fair values and were denominated in RMB.
- (iii) The amounts due to fellow subsidiaries were unsecured, interest-free and no credit period was granted generally. The ageing of amounts due to fellow subsidiaries were within one year. The carrying amounts of amounts due to fellow subsidiaries approximated their fair values and were denominated in RMB.
- (iv) The amount due to Xifa Commercial Factoring of HK\$60,010,000 (2023: HK\$51,573,000) represented the suppliers invoices factoring arrangement among the Group's suppliers and Xifa Commercial Factoring. The amount due to Xifa Commercial Factoring are unsecured, interest free and repayable within one year. The carrying amount of amount due to Xifa Commercial Factoring approximated its fair value and was denominated in RMB.
- (v) The amounts due to related parties were unsecured, interest free and repayable within one year. The carrying amount of amounts due to related parties approximated its fair value and were denominated in RMB.
- (vi) Loan from an intermediate holding company of HK\$130,000,000 (2023: HK\$130,000,000) were guaranteed by the Company with fixed interest rate at 5.70% per annum (2023: 4.95% 5.70% per annum), approximated their fair values, denominated in HK\$ and are repayable in 2025.

Loan from an intermediate holding company of HK\$14,899,000 (2023: HK\$15,852,000) was guaranteed by the Company with fixed rate at 5.70% per annum (2023: 5.28% per annum), approximated its fair value, denominated in RMB and is repayable in 2025.

(d) Transactions with key management personnel

Key management includes directors (executive and non-executive). The compensation paid or payable to key management for employee services is shown below:

	2024	2023
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Salaries, bonus, other allowances and benefits in kind	1,685	1,999
Pension costs – defined contribution plans	27	27
	1,712	2,026

38. ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

Management considers that Qingdao Haifa State-owned Capital Investment and Operation Group Co., Ltd as the ultimate holding company of the Group, which is a company incorporated in the PRC and controlled by the State-owned Asset Supervision and Administration Commission of Qingdao.

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the Company

Note	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000
ASSETS		
Non-current assets	40	
Property, plant and equipment	12 105,800	105.800
Investments in subsidiaries Amounts due from subsidiaries	105,600	105,800 166,031
7 Whothis due World Subsidiance		100,001
	105,812	271,840
Current assets		
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables	395	382
Amounts due from subsidiaries	73,451	16,697
Cash and cash equivalents	29,963	42
		.=
	103,809	17,121
Total assets	209,621	288,961
EQUITY		
Capital and reserves		
Share capital	8,000	8,000
Reserves 39(b)	152,837	159,980
Total equity	160,837	167,980
LIABILITY Current liabilities		
Accruals and other payables	3,202	2,555
Amount due to a subsidiary	15,747	7,766
Borrowing	_	110,660
Corporate bonds	29,835	_
	48,784	120,981
<u></u>		
Total equity and liabilities	209,621	288,961

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2025 and was signed on its behalf by:

Jiang Hongchang

Director

Zhou Hongbao Director

For the year ended 31 December 2024

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(b) Reserve movement of the Company

	Share premium HK\$'000	Other reserve HK\$'000	Accumulated losses	Total HK\$'000
At 1 January 2023 Loss for the year	214,840 -	20,000	(53,157) (21,703)	181,683 (21,703)
At 31 December 2023	214,840	20,000	(74,860)	159,980
At 1 January 2024 Loss for the year	214,840 -	20,000	(74,860) (7,143)	159,980 (7,143)
At 31 December 2024	214,840	20,000	(82,003)	152,837

Other reserve of the Company represented the difference between the net asset value of Prosper Construction Group Ltd. acquired over the nominal value of the share capital of the Company issued in exchange thereof.

40. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

This note provides a list of material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

40.1 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity where the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of financial position respectively.

In the Company's statement of financial position, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

40. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

40.2 Joint arrangement

Under HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements investments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint ventures. The classification depends on the contractual rights and obligations of each investor, rather than the legal structure of the joint arrangement. The Group has a joint operation.

Joint operations

The Group recognises its direct right to the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of joint operations and its share of any jointly held or incurred assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. These have been incorporated in the financial statements under the appropriate headings.

40.3 Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, regardless of whether equity instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

- fair values of the assets transferred
- liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business
- equity interests issued by the Group
- · fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, and
- fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest's proportionate share of the acquired entity's net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the

- consideration transferred,
- amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity, and
- acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the business acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as a bargain purchase.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

40. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

40.3 Business combinations (Continued)

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted to their present value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity's incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier under comparable terms and conditions. Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

40.4 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the assets' carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the reporting period in which they are incurred.

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

Gains or losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

40.5 Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

40. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

40.6 Investments and other financial assets

(i) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

- those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through OCI or through profit or loss), and
- those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity's business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI").

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes.

(ii) Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

(iii) Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss ("FVPL"), transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

40. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

40.6 Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

(iii) Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group's business model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. The Group classifies its debt instruments into the following category:

- (a) Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in "other gains, net" together with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
- (b) measured at FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in the profit or loss and presented net within "other losses, net" in the period in which it arises.

(iv) Impairment

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit losses ("ECL") model on financial assets (including trade, retention and notes receivables, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, deposits and other receivables and cash and bank balances) and contract assets which are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. The details are disclosed in note 3.1(b).

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments are done based on the Group's historical credit loss rate of relevant market players, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

For trade, retention and notes receivables, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries and contract assets, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables, see note 22 and 24 for further details.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition, see note 22 for further details.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

40. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

40.7 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the statement of financial position when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the end of reporting period.

40.8 Borrowings costs

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

40.9 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current period's taxable income based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the lax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation and considers whether it is probable that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment. The Group measures its tax balances either based on the most likely amount or the expected value, depending on which method provides a better prediction of the resolution of the uncertainty.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

40. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

40.9 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and where the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

40.10 Employee benefits

(a) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the reporting date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity or paternity leaves are not recognised until the time of leave.

(b) Retirement benefits

The Group operates defined contribution plans and pays contributions to publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expenses when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

40. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

40.10 Employee benefits (Continued)

(c) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Group before the normal retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits at the earlier of the following dates: (a) when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b) when the entity recognises costs for a restructuring that is within the scope of HKAS 37 and involves the payment of termination benefits. In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy the termination benefits are measured based on the number of employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than twelve months after the reporting date are discounted to present value.

40.11 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management's best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate used to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

An onerous contract exists where the unavoidable cost of meeting the obligations under a contract exceeds the economic benefits expected to be received under that contract. The unavoidable costs under a contract reflect the least net cost of exiting from the contract, which is the lower of the cost of fulfilling it and any compensation or penalties arising from failure to fulfill it.

The direct cost of fulfilling a contract comprises:

- the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (for example, direct labour and materials); and
- an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts

The Group recognises costs of fulfilling a contract as expense to profit or loss when the contract first became onerous.

Five Year Financial Summary

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities and equity of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the Company's annual reports, is set out below.

	Year ended 31 December				
	2024	2023	2022	2021	2020
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Revenue	1,631,308	2,125,871	2,879,211	3,185,839	1,465,696
	100 100	101.007	000.040	005.000	00.005
Gross profit	130,128	181,097	220,619	205,090	86,625
(Loss)/profit before income tax	(153,381)	(168,113)	19,754	31,195	28,379
Income tax credit/(expense)	2,670	(13,522)	(9,216)	(14,433)	(12,332)
(Loss)/profit for the year	(150,711)	(181,635)	10,538	16,762	16,047
		Ac	at 31 Decembe	.	
	2024	2023	2022	2021	2020
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
				,	
Non-current assets	448,603	481,762	507,010	503,292	338,271
Current assets	4,831,765	4,553,842	4,386,984	3,933,655	1,415,559
Total assets	5,280,368	5,035,604	4,893,994	4,436,947	1,753,830
Non-current liabilities	361,502	211,824	352,178	587,741	151,183
Current liabilities	4,613,010	4,343,305	3,917,499	3,205,807	1,047,775
	.,,	.,,	2,2 , . 2 0	-,,	.,,.,.
Total liabilities	4,974,512	4,555,129	4,269,677	3,793,548	1,198,958
Total equity	305,856	480,475	624,317	643,399	554,872